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A message  
from the MEC

“The hosting of the 2010 FIFA World Cup™ has fur ther highlighted our 
capabilities in broadcasting, media and film.”  Firoz Cachalia
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The film and TV industry in Gauteng has a significant role to play in positioning our province as a 
media and content exchange centre. The increasing interest being shown by the world not only 
in our experiences and history and also our attractiveness as a versatile location destination with 
skilled crews, advanced technologies and production facilities highlights this potential, particularly in 
Gauteng, the economic hub of the continent.  

The hosting of the 2010 FIFA World Cup™ has further highlighted our capabilities in broadcasting, 
media and film.

However, the impact of the global recession on the audio-visual industries has been severe, resulting 
in job losses and closure of businesses. In this difficult period, the industry together with provincial 
and national government, needs to assess not only how to recover but also to innovate, in order to 
grow the sector and expand opportunities among the historically disadvantaged. 

The Gauteng Film Commission has yet again achieved an unqualified audit opinion and I would like 
to congratulate them on this achievement. 

Firoz Cachalia
Member of the executive Council for economic Development
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the Maropeng Visitors’ Centre at the  
Cradle of Humankind World Heritage Site
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A message from  
the Chairperson

“The GFC has taken steps to reposition itself in order to contribute actively to 
the development of both project-based and permanent jobs within the sector.”

Nkenke Kekana
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In our Annual Report last year we noted with concern rising 

reports regarding the impact of the crisis at the South 

African Broadcasting Corporation (SABC) on the film and 

TV industry, as well as the unfolding global economic 

recession – crises which could clearly jeopardise the fragile 

growth of the sector. Since then, our concerns have been 

borne out by reality and, as our report this year confirms, 

these events have had a serious impact on the local 

production industry. 

In addition, government agencies such as the Gauteng Film 

Commission (GFC) will, in upcoming years, face a more 

constrained fiscal environment. The GFC will therefore need  

to reprioritise its efforts to ensure that we achieve more 

with less. What is clear is that industry reliance on investment 

by the GFC in the sector will have to be met within a tight 

budgetary framework.  

A related theme this past year has been a renewed sense of 

urgency regarding employment creation. In line with the 

Polokwane Manifesto, job creation has been placed firmly at 

the centre of government economic policy. The GFC plays a 

leadership role within the audio-visual industry in South 

Africa. Further, its core mandate is to facilitate and enhance 

the industry’s contribution to the economic growth of 

Gauteng. Therefore, the Commission’s ability to contribute 

to job creation within the industry is of major importance.

During the year under review, the GFC has taken steps to 

reposition itself in order to contribute actively to the 

development of both project-based and permanent jobs 

within the sector.  

On behalf of the Board and management of Gauteng Film 

Commission, I would like to reassert our commitment to 

governance, a commitment which is reflected in the 

Commission obtaining another unqualified audit.  

As always, I must extend a heartfelt thanks to my fellow 

board members for their invaluable contributions 

throughout the year. While members come from diverse 

business backgrounds, they share a passion for the industry 

and a dedication to its future.

It would be amiss of me not to mention the devotion of the 

CEO, Terry Tselane, and his team of committed professionals  

at the GFC whose hard work and dedication continue to 

lead and develop our industry.

I wish to thank the members of the Audit Committee for 

their ongoing contributions to the organisation. To the staff 

of the Auditor-General, we are particularly grateful for their 

professionalism and assistance.

Nkenke Kekana
Chairperson
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The Board

Terry Tselane
Chief executive officer
Gauteng Film Commission

Seipati Bulane-Hopa
Board member
FEPACI

Johann Marnitz
Board member
JP Marnitz and Co

Zandile Nzalo
Board member
Zanenza Communications

Nkenke Kekana
Chairperson
Gauteng Film Commission
Mowana Investments
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Vision

Making Gauteng an innovative world-class hub for the film 

and television industry.

Mission

To cultivate, facilitate and enhance an environment that 

allows the film and television industry to play a meaningful 

role in the socio-economic development of Gauteng.

Our values

Our values incorporate the following Batho Pele principles:

• Respect

• Leadership

• Responsibility

• Responsiveness

• Progressive and innovative

• Passion, excellence and commitment

• People development and empowerment

• Efficiency, accountability and transparency

Strategic objectives

•  To significantly increase the number of participants involved 

in the development, production and distribution of 

independently made films in order to realise the sector’s 

full job preservation and creation potential

•  To undertake a feasibility study in order to transform the 

sector and increase ownership and participation by black, 

youth and women filmmakers by facilitating and  

co-ordinating the development of a film incubation model/

centre and provide related support programmes to PDI 

independent filmmakers

•  To position and promote Gauteng as location, production 

centre and media exchange, develop export markets for 

local content and deliver professional film commission 

services

•  To develop and maintain effective business processes (in 

respect of legal services, human resource management, 

financial management and information and technology 

services) in order to ensure the effective functioning of the 

organisation.

Vision, mission, values 
and mandate
The Gauteng Film Commission (GFC) is an agency of the Gauteng Provincial 
Government tasked with the development and promotion of the audio-visual 
industries in Gauteng. Flowing from this mandate, the GFC’s core business is to 
facilitate and enhance the contribution of the industry to the economic growth 
of the Province.
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A message from the 
Chief Executive Officer

“Our challenge is not only to assist in countering job losses but also see that 
additional jobs are created in the medium to long term as the bulk of the 
country’s creative talent is located in Gauteng.”  Terry Tselane



AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 GAutenG FIlM CoMMISSIon I ��

This past year has seen the audio-visual industry impacted 

by both the global economic crisis and the financial crisis at 

the country’s national broadcaster, the South African 

Broadcasting Corporation (SABC). This necessitated a 

refocusing of the Gauteng Film Commission’s strategies and 

programmes in order to assist the industry in countering 

the impact of these crises. 

Our challenge is not only to assist in countering job losses 

but also see that additional jobs are created in the medium 

to long term as the bulk of the country’s creative talent is 

located in Gauteng.  We therefore invested more heavily in 

projects that support training and skills development, 

particularly among the youth and women, develop local 

content and nuture emerging talent while growing local 

audiences. A total of 28 locally developed and produced 

film and television projects were supported, benefiting 17 

emerging production companies and creating 2,381 project-

based job opportunities.  

Concomitantly, we reduced marketing spend while still 

preparing for the 2010 FIFA World Cup™, through 

promoting Gauteng-produced content at international 

markets, developing comprehensive media and crew 

guidelines and hosting international film crews.

Despite the challenges, there was cause for optimism with 

South African stories gaining prominence on global screens 

and Gauteng locations such as Soweto becoming increasingly 

popular among international filmmakers. Our mission of 

making Gauteng one of the world’s most accessible and 

supportive centres for film production was given further 

impetus through the ‘Film Friendly Gauteng’ campaign, 

supported by service providers to the industry and the 

industry itself.

With respect to the partnership agreement entered into 

between the Gauteng Film Commission (acting on behalf of 

the Gauteng Provincial Government) and CNBC Africa,  

I wish to report that the contract was terminated by mutual 

agreement during the course of the year. Since the 

establishment of the studios of CNBC Africa in Johannesburg,  

a number of benefits have accrued to the Province as a 

result of the agreement, notably foreign direct investment in 

the media and broadcast industry, the creation of more than 

130 jobs as well as a content partnership which has resulted 

in significant global exposure given to the Province and the 

work of the provincial government. 

It should also be noted that during the course of the year 

substantive amendments were made to the GFC’s Business 

Plan in response to the recession and the need to prioritise 

budgets in line with new priorities. Performance targets and 

indicators therefore had to be amended. These amendments 

were reported on in the GFC’s quarterly reports.

Lastly, I would like to point out that the Gauteng Provincial 

Government has initiated a process of reviewing the current 

organisational and institutional structures of the provincial 

government. This process will not affect the operations of 

the GFC during the current financial year and we are in 

close liaison with the Department of Economic Development 

regarding the process.

Terry Tselane
Chief executive officer
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Gauteng Film Commission organogram
Terry Tselane   Chief Executive Officer
Faith Ramoupi   Personal Assistant to the CEO
Siyabonga Mngoma     Advertising Manager
Tumi Moncho   Legal Secretary
Elliot Maluleke   Chief Financial Officer
Refilwe Nnani   Finance Officer
Lazarus Makube Finance and Payroll Manager 
Latoya Mokotto   Human Resources Manager
Patricia Mkhaliphi   Office Assistant
Vacant  Human Resources Officer
Rochelle Roscoe  Receptionist
Isaac Mokgaphane   IT Manager
Bubele Ngxola  IT Officer
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Management 

the Chief executive officer is appointed by the MeC for 

economic Development in consultation with the Board 

and is held accountable to this office.

Audit Committee

the Audit Committee of the Gauteng Film Commission 

serves as its principal agent in ensuring proper oversight  

in matters relating to, among others, the integrity of 

management, the independence of GFC auditors and the 

adequacy of disclosures to the public.

Members of the Audit Committee

Johan van der Walt CA (SA) – Chairperson

Johann Marnitz – Member

ester Makau – Member

peterson Mothudi CA (SA) – Member

Risk management

the Gauteng Film Commission Board is responsible for 

identifying and addressing the management of all operational 

and financial risks.

the Commission maintains systems and structures of 

internal control that are designed to provide transparency 

and accountability as well as to ensure that the organisation 

operates to the highest standards applicable.

the appointment of a company secretary/legal manager 

has enabled the Commission to place more emphasis on 

strategic matters such as corporate governance and migration 

from a Section 21 to a public entity.

In addition, to monitor internal control more closely and 

regularly, the Commission appointed an internal auditor.

Gauteng Film Commission organogram
Terry Tselane   Chief Executive Officer
Faith Ramoupi   Personal Assistant to the CEO
Siyabonga Mngoma     Advertising Manager
Tumi Moncho   Legal Secretary
Elliot Maluleke   Chief Financial Officer
Refilwe Nnani   Finance Officer
Lazarus Makube Finance and Payroll Manager 
Latoya Mokotto   Human Resources Manager
Patricia Mkhaliphi   Office Assistant
Vacant  Human Resources Officer
Rochelle Roscoe  Receptionist
Isaac Mokgaphane   IT Manager
Bubele Ngxola  IT Officer

Thabiso Masudubele   Senior Manager: Industry Support  
and Development

Desmond Mthembu Project Manager: Industry Support  
 and Development
Kgomotso Tabane   Audience Development Officer
Nthabeleng Phora   Unit Coordinator
Jacques Stoltz  Senior Manager:  
 Marketing and Research
Tumi Ntshingila  Communications Manager
Puisano Phatoli   Marketing Manager
Seitiso Mogoshane   Information Officer
Sebastian Ndayi   Research Manager
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officer
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Operating
environment
The Gauteng audio-visual industry plays a vital role in growing 
a ‘smart’ economy, a creative economy that not only attracts 
cultural workers and quality jobs, but also contributes to 
economic growth and social upliftment. 

The industry operates in a dynamic environment and must 
therefore constantly adjust its competitive strategies and 
business models to take advantage of new opportunities, 
emerging technologies and changing markets, while confronting 
a number of competitive challenges.

In the past year, these challenges have been particularly severe, 
including:
•  The collapse of revenues due to the financial crisis 

experienced by the country’s national broadcaster, the South 
African Broadcasting Corporation (SABC), which in 2007/2008 
had a content commissioning budget of nearly R1 billion;

•  An over-reliance on TV commissioning budgets (7 of the top 
10 most watched SA TV shows are Gauteng produced), 
which has left many production companies and related 
service and facilities vulnerable and undiversified in their 
product offerings;

•  Unsustainable company sizes, with a lack of investment in 
Research and Development (R&D) and innovation;

•  Monopolised distribution and broadcast channels;
•  Uncompetitive intellectual property ownership regimes that 

effectively restrict downstream sales and revenues;
•  An absence of coordinated industry programmes to retain 

and develop scarce skills;
•  Unsustainable production volumes particularly in the local 

feature film industry;
•  Insufficient funding and financing, with private sector financing 

of content development virtually non-existent;
•  Lack of transformation and a lack of industry leadership to 

address this; and
•  Insufficient development of concepts and scripts, with many 

SA stories being told by foreign producer/director teams.
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In addition, the global economic recession has increased the 

risk, primarily due to:

•  Reduction in international and national TV commissioning 

budgets as a result of reduced advertising revenue and 

profitability; 

•  Reduction in local advertising budgets affecting local 

commercial and stills production; 

•  Event-based distribution platforms (i.e. markets and 

festivals) being cancelled as a result of advertising and 

sponsorships being withdrawn or dramatically reduced;

•  Stronger Rand and less competitive financing costs driving 

foreign ‘run-away’ productions elsewhere; and

•  Downstream effect as Hollywood faces one of its biggest 

crises in living memory. In January 2009 22,000 jobs were 

lost in Hollywood, while this year also saw the lowest 

number of on-location filming undertaken in California on 

record.  

The GFC permit data has shown a sharp drop both in 

commercial as well as TV production, even during the 

Province’s peak production season. Further, with certain 

major festivals, including the Encounters International 

Documentary Film Festival, the Bafundi Film & TV Festival, 

Out in Africa and others relying heavily on SABC sponsorship, 

some events have cancelled their 2009 and 2010 seasons. 

This has resulted in additional job losses and also greatly 

impoverishes the local screen culture.

Film and TV industry important to Gauteng
Despite all this, the film and TV industry should continue to 

play an important role in the Provincial economy as:

•  It supports Gauteng’s shift to a knowledge-based service 

economy;

•  Film industries are recognised as an important economic 

engine and the sector is recognised as a priority sector in 

terms of the National Industrial Development Framework;

•  In many comparable international markets, the sector has 

reported faster than average employment growth in 

recent decades;

•  Investment in film and TV results in direct investment in 

intellectual capital and product that can result in a return 

on investment for many years to come;

•  The industry attracts and retains highly-educated and 

highly-skilled people in a variety of well-paid, quality and 

‘green’ jobs, with Gauteng having the highest proportion of 

such workers nationally, contributing to the long-term 

competitiveness of the Province in the wider media and 

entertainment sectors;

•  While sector employment is highly-skilled, entry barriers 

are low, enabling people to enter the industry and work 

their way up, acquiring specialised skills on the way;

•  The Province is well placed to capitalise on existing 

investment, infrastructure and scarce skills to become an 

African centre of excellence in innovative and creative 

media and entertainment content creation;

Operating environment
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•  The sector plays a major role in building the profile of 

‘Brand Gauteng’ and ‘Destination Gauteng’ and is also a 

major contributor to Provincial tourism revenues; and

•  ICT, broadcast and media infrastructure expansion is 

contingent on the ongoing availability of affordable, quality, 

locally-owned content, which the sector can provide, 

reducing imports and potentially generating new export 

markets.

Global recognition

Globally, Gauteng is receiving increasing recognition of its 

creative talents, its production facilities and crew expertise 

and its locations.  

Johannesburg’s growing reputation as a creative centre has 

been further boosted by the city coming in at number 10 in 

the world’s Most Creative Cities ranking, in the inaugural 

Cannes Report 2009, which highlights the official rankings of 

agencies, regions, countries and cities based on their 

performance at the Cannes Lions 2009 International 

Advertising Festival. The city is also home to 3 of the agencies 

in the 20 Highest Ranked Agencies across Europe, the 

Middle East and Africa, including the top ranked agency, 

TBWA\Hunt\Lascaris Johannesburg.  

Gauteng’s increasing popularity as a locations destination in 

the commercials production sector, having a 50,1% market-

share, according to the 19 tracked companies in the 2009 

Commercial Producers Industry Survey, shows the City of 

Johannesburg and Province are definitely becoming a force 

in the creative sector, not only in terms of creative work but 

also as a prime locations destination.

This is further borne out by the increasing number of co-

productions shot entirely, or partly, in Gauteng by a 

demanding global filmmaking community. Recent movies 

include Clint Eastwood’s Invictus (starring Morgan Freeman 

and Matt Damon), Canadian/SA co-production The Bang 

Bang Club (starring Ryan Phillippe and Taylor Kitsch), and 

Peter Jackson’s District 9, which went to the top of the US 

box office on its release in August 2009 and was directed by 

local boy-made-good Neill Blomkamp. 

Cinema attendance and box office

Local stories are also driving up cinema attendance in South 

Africa, with research company Cinemark reporting increased 

cinema attendances during the recession. Skin became the 

number one film on the Cinema Nouveau circuit during its 

first weekend of release. The film, which has already won 16 

awards around the globe, pulled in just under R200 000 at 

the box office (22 – 24 January 2010) although it was 

released only in selected cinemas (11 prints) around the 

country. And local production White Wedding, a slick 

romantic comedy starring Rapulana Seiphemo (Jerusalema), 

Kenneth Nkosi (Tsotsi) and British actress Jodie Whittaker, 



star of Venus, enjoyed record breaking returns for a local 

film, with opening weekend attendances in SA comparable 

to award-winning hit Slumdog Millionaire.

Gauteng has the largest and wealthiest cinema audience in 

SA, with cinema theatres boasting a combined seating 

capacity of over 22 000 seats, the largest concentration 

around Johannesburg. And cinema complexes are keeping 

up with technology, with Nu Metro operating the world’s 

largest RealD 3-D screen at Montecasino in Johannesburg, 

and Ster-Kinekor featuring 3-D screens at many of its 

Gauteng cinemas.  

Production trends

During the 2009/2010 financial year, 146 film permit 

applications were processed, a drop of 24,7% compared to 

the previous year. The busiest period moved from August to 

June, while December remained by far the least busy 

production month. The crisis at the SABC was reflected by 

the drop in TV productions.  

While fewer permits were issued, there was a slight increase 

in the number of location shoots over the previous financial 

year. 

Johannesburg continued to retain its dominant share of 

location filming, utilising publicly controlled locations, in 

Gauteng, with 90,6 % (2008 – 95 %) of location shoots. 

While most location shoots in the Province are urban (in 

line with global trends), it must be noted that many shoots 

involving privately owned locations, particularly on the West 

Rand, occur regularly but are not included in the GFC’s 

production data as they generally do not require public 

filming permits or traffic control. The five top areas for 

location filming are, in descending order, Johannesburg CBD, 

Soweto, Braamfontein, Sandton and Pretoria CBD.

A worrying trend is the dramatic drop in total number of 

reported shoot days (381 – 2008 to 352 – 2009) in the 

GFC’s permit logs. While it is too early to confirm a specific 

reason for this, it could be ascribed to the significant 

reduction in TV productions, which usually happen over 

longer timeframes.  

Commercials production

Commercials production dominates both permit numbers 

issued and total shoot days utilised, and continues to 

represent a sizeable share of the Gauteng film industry.

The 5th Commercial Producers Industry Survey 2009 

results reveal a decrease (14%) in the overall number of 

commercials produced in SA, costing slightly more to 

produce. This, the report indicates, is due to the affect of  

the recession which is placing increasing pressure on  

margins, as evident in the increase in tracked expenditure 

and turnover.   

The total billable value for all commercial productions 

Operating environment
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during the 2008/2009 period was just under R970 million 

(R969 182 258.70), while expenditure measured totalled 

over R697 million (R697 506 614.04).

Respondents reported that they produced 672 commercials 

in the 2008/2009 period, including 63 commercials shot in 

High Definition (a 485% increase over the previous year, 

showing the increasing popularity and acceptance of HD as 

a film medium), totalling 1,399 shoot days, an average of 

2,08 days per commercial. The average budget per 

commercial, for all types produced, was just under  

R1,5 million (R1 442 235.00)

One of the survey’s key findings is that BBEEE should remain 

an industry priority, as it is still in the early stages of 

implementation within the sector. It is interesting to note 

that the industry is making relatively good progress from an 

employment equity perspective, with previously disadvantaged 

individuals comprising 40% of full-time employees and 89% 

of part-time employees within production companies. Further, 

transformation within areas such as the freelance talent and 

crew base is steadily increasing.

An overall trend is the substantial use of freelance labour  

on commercial productions, with the industry providing 

freelance employment of an estimated 62 289.68 person-

days for the 2008/2009 period, with an average number of 

freelance crew per commercial at about 45 (i.e. with equal 

weighting for the three types of commercials produced).

Gauteng Employment Census
This trend is borne out by the employment census carried 

out by the GFC in the last quarter of 2009, which reveals 

that Gauteng companies within the sector are employing 

new staff on a part-time basis, rather than full-time 

employment, as well as awarding a substantial portion of 

work to freelancers. 97.9% of the 434 companies interviewed 

are based in Gauteng.

A total of 9,294 people are employed as direct employees 

of the companies interviewed, with 73,2% being full-time 

employees, 25,1% being part-time employees, 1,6% interns 

and 0,2% volunteers.  What is interesting to note is that in 

the 12 month period prior to the survey, the companies 

reported they had employed 1,692 new employees 

(excluding freelancers). Of these, 67,9% were part-time 

employees as opposed to 20,8% full-time employees, 

revealing a substantial move to part-time employees. This, 

coupled with the total of 6,880 freelancers appointed over 

the same period, reveals a trend towards part-time or 

freelance employment in the sector in Gauteng.  

Youth (people under the age of 35) form the vast majority 

(54%) of direct employees, while 32% of respondents said 

they offered learnership or an internship programme for 

school leavers or students.  The role of women within the 

sector is significant, comprising 43,3% of direct employees, 

while only 1,1% of direct employees are disabled.  
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Operating environment

Transformation is further highlighted by the split of direct 

employees by race, with 57% Black, 32,6% White, 6,4% 

Coloured and 4% Asian.  

However, while the industry appears to be making relatively 

good progress from an employment equity perspective 

(50,6% of companies interviewed were black-empowered), 

black ownership remains low at 28,6% and is an area that 

needs ongoing focus.

Facilities

Studios are an essential element of both film and television 

workflow and provide a rounded mix of services to the 

industry.  Although it’s well-known that the Province has a 

wide selection of production and post-production services, 

studio information has been lacking.  

The GFC, as part of its ongoing commitment to be of 

service to the sector and promote the Province as a film-

friendly location, carried out a survey of Gauteng studios. 

The resultant ‘A – Z Guide to studios in Gauteng’, which 

looks at what’s on offer and provides details of studios, is 

available on the GFC website. 

Financial incentives and tax breaks

The Film & TV Production Incentive is offered by the 

Department of Trade and Industry of SA (DTI) and has two 

focus areas: 

Location Film and TV Production Incentive Scheme which is 

aimed at attracting large-budget overseas film and television 

productions to SA: the incentive is only available to foreign-

owned productions with Qualifying South African Production 

Expenditure (QSAPE) of R12 million and above. It provides 

a rebate of 15% of the QSAPE. Qualifying formats are 

feature films, telemovies, TV drama series, documentaries, 

animation and short form animations.

The South African Film & TV Production and  

Co-Production Incentive Scheme provides financial support 

for locally-owned productions and official treaty co-

productions with a total production budget of R2,5 million 

and above. It provides a rebate of 35% for the first  

R6 million and 25% for the remainder of the qualifying 

production expenditure. Qualifying formats are feature films, 

telemovies, TV drama series, documentaries, animation and 

short form animations.

The value of the rebate for any qualifying production is 

capped at a maximum of R10 million.

Looking ahead

Despite the challenges, the message from Gauteng is that 

SA has excellent opportunities going forward, with the eyes 

of the world on SA for the 2010 FIFA World Cup™ and 

having earned international respect for work on hits such as 

District 9, Invictus, Endgame, Skin, Generation Kill, No. 1 Ladies 

Detective Agency and 24: Redemption. These films have 

piqued interest in SA content and make it easier for local 

producers to stimulate interest from foreign investors 

around good local content.

With the DTI’s recently introduced milestone payment 

option and support from the GFC, the smaller indigenous 

films should also blossom, while the outlook for bigger local 

films and co-productions is also positive.

The global recession has also put the spotlight on South 

Africa’s cost effectiveness which, together with high quality 

crew, strong work ethic, favourable locations and ease of 

shooting in SA, should bode well for both the South African 

and Gauteng film and TV industry.



In line with the GFC’s mission to ensure that Gauteng is one 

of the world’s most accessible and supportive centres for 

film production, the Commission has implemented the ‘Film 

Friendly Gauteng’ campaign, which is enjoying excellent 

support from suppliers and providers of services to the 

industry as well as the industry itself.  

Through the campaign, which aims at guaranteeing that 

Gauteng’s locations are welcoming and suppliers competitive 

in their pricing structures, all participating partners have 

committed to film friendly policies and practices.

The campaign strategy is the result of extensive consultation 

with the film industry both locally and internationally as well 

as the Gauteng Film Partnership, a representative industry 

body which advises the GFC on industry matters. What  

was clear from these interactions was that regional 

competitiveness is increasingly about cost and perception of 

value for money – particularly during a recessionary downturn. 

While most producers widely praise the diversity of Gauteng’s 

locations and the Province’s technical capability and skilled 

crew, the need to ensure easily accessible and competitively 

priced locations and services must be a priority.

The initial phase of the ‘Film Friendly Gauteng’ campaign 

specifically targeted suppliers and service providers to the 

industry, including locations, hotels and car rental companies 

active in the tourism and hospitality industries. Over 30 such 

organisations are active partners and have committed to the 

‘Film Friendly Gauteng’ Pledge, which commits partners to:

• encourage and support film activity in Gauteng; 

•  encourage accessibility to film locations and facilities;

• subscribe to business practices that are film friendly;

•  offer quality service and a commitment to value for money 

and competitive rates;

•  commit to ethical and responsible filmmaking; and

• protect, sustain and respect Gauteng’s locations.

The GFC is also involving the public sector and lobbying for 

greater support from government entities and stakeholders 

who play a critical role, particularly around location filming.  

As a sustainable film industry cannot be built solely on 

government grants, the campaign also targets the financial 

community. Property owners are also being lobbied for 

greater access to privately-owned locations while the GFC 

has an initiative with location scouts to ensure such locations 

are used responsibly.

’Film Friendly Gauteng’ also places greater responsibility on 

the industry to ensure that they adhere to ethical location 

filming practices. The GFC has therefore released industry 

guidelines for location filming in Gauteng, which clarify roles 

and responsibilities and give film makers clear guidance 

relating to location filming requirements as well as to inform 

them of locations with particular requirements. The 

guidelines include a locations code of conduct, tips for ‘green 

filming’, general location filming guidelines, legislation 

affecting filming as well as proposals for dealing with shoots 

that contravene permit conditions.
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Film Friendly Gauteng
This campaign is yet another way in which the GFC strives 
to ensure ‘Perfect Locations’ across Gauteng year-round.



the Constitutional Court in the Constitution Hill precinct, Hillbrow
Photo: Chris Kirchhoff, MediaClubSouthAfrica.com

�� I GAutenG FIlM CoMMISSIon AnnuAl RepoRt 2010



AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 GAutenG FIlM CoMMISSIon I ��

During the year under review the GFC, in line with its 
leadership role within the audio-visual industry in South 
Africa, refocused its strategies and programmes in order to 
respond to and assist the industry in countering the impact 
of the global economic recession and the financial crisis at 
the country’s national broadcaster, the South African 
Broadcasting Corporation (SABC).  

As the GFC enjoys the trust of the industry, this places great 
responsibility on the Commission to assist and guide the 
industry, particularly during such challenging times. While 
the industry itself is comparatively small, it offers major 
growth opportunity to the Gauteng economy and labour 
market. Further, while the local industry has seen strong 
growth in revenues over the past decade, this has not 
necessarily resulted in new job creation as business models 
have been overly reliant on the broadcasters and distributors.  

The SABC crisis not only resulted in the loss of a significant 
number of jobs, predominantly within the production sector, 
but also impacted on the wider supply chain, with screen 
writers, studios, post production edit suites, sales agents and 
others reporting substantial business and job losses, as 
highlighted in the 2009 Employment Survey carried out for 
the first time by the GFC. Of the survey respondents, 71,2% 
and 42,6% indicated the current recession and financial crisis 
at the SABC respectively had impacted their companies.

Retrenchment in the industry, as a direct result of both the 
current recession and SABC scenario, was significant. Of  
the 71,2% affected by the current recession, 12,9% (40 
companies) stated they had to retrench 452 employees, 
averaging 11 employees per company retrenched.  Concerning 
the effect of the financial crisis at the SABC, 42,6% of 
respondents indicated they had been affected, resulting in 
the retrenchment of some 167 employees, an average of 12 
employees per company affected.
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The GFC’s core business is to facilitate and enhance the 

contribution of the industry to the economic growth of the 

Province. As such, it has an important role to play in 

enhancing Gauteng’s competitiveness and in driving job 

creation and economic growth.  The challenge confronting 

the GFC is therefore to not only assist in countering job 

losses but also to see that additional jobs are created in the 

medium to longer term. This is vital as the bulk of South 

Africa’s creative talent is located within the Province.

The Commission’s reprioritised focus areas, designed to not 

only respond to the above challenges but also to set the 

foundation for the next three years, are:

•  To significantly increase the number of participants 

involved in the development, production and distribution 

of independently made films in order to realise the sector’s 

full job preservation and creation potential;

•  To undertake a feasibility study in order to transform the 

sector and increase ownership and participation by black, 

youth and women filmmakers by facilitating and  

co-ordinating the development of a film incubation model/ 

centre and provide related support programmes to PDI 

independent filmmakers;

•  To position and promote Gauteng as location, production 

centre and media exchange, develop export markets for local 

content and deliver professional film commission services;

•  To develop and maintain effective business processes (in 

respect of legal services, human resource management, 

financial management and information and technology 

services) in order to ensure the effective functioning of 

the organisation.

In line with these priorities, the GFC has reduced marketing 

and promotion spend, investing more heavily in Industry 

Support and Development (ISD) projects that serve to 

support training and skills development, develop local content 

and grow local audiences – all contributing to emphasising 

local job creation in the Province.

INDUSTRY SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT
While revising its ISD programme, with a view to responding 

to the local production crisis, the GFC believes strongly in 

the importance of a collaborative industry process. 

For the past two years, the GFC has been working with 

local independent filmmakers around introducing creative 

content creation that is linked to an alternative distribution 

model. This has resulted in projects such as Jerusalema and 

White Wedding which have shown that local demand not 

only exists but that local films can be financially viable as a 

result of this demand. 

With the DTI rebate now in place, far more opportunities also 

exist for local filmmakers working in the R2,5 – R10 million 

budget bracket. The GFC has increased the scale of its 

support to low budget independent filmmakers who do not 

qualify for the DTI rebate as well as low budget filmmakers 

Performance summary
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working in the R2,5 – R10 million bracket that need support 

in order to develop, complete or distribute their projects. 

As an immediate stimulus, the GFC announced in September 

2009 that it would fund the production of production-ready 

low budget feature films as a slate of films, calling on Gauteng-

based filmmakers to submit film projects for consideration.

The GFC proactively strives to support ‘Made in Gauteng’ 

projects and practitioners through providing: 

•  development funds, for features, drama, documentary and 

digital media; 

•  production assistance in targeted initiatives, one-off  

projects, or in collaboration with broadcasters or other 

funding entities; 

•  grant funding for internships, mentorship and training 

programs with more experienced practitioners; and

•  support to projects that enhance employment and 

professional development opportunities, and the creation 

of a vibrant screen sector for independent filmmakers. 

Content development and distribution projects

A total of 28 locally developed and produced film and 

television projects were supported, benefiting 17 emerging 

production companies and creating 2,381 project-based job 

opportunities. Productions included feature films, short 

films, TV series, documentaries and student productions.  

For a complete list of projects, see page 32.

Training and skills development
The GFC, in collaboration with the Cities of Johannesburg 

and Tshwane library information services, the Sedibeng 

District Municipality and the Ekurhuleni Metropolitan, rolled 

out a series of workshops and screening initiatives focusing 

on Film as a Career.  The project, which promoted all forms 

of career within the audio-visual sector, aimed to broaden 

people’s perception, particularly those of the youth, of what 

options are available within the industry. A total of 6,348 

audience members were reached.

Another innovative outreach project was to reach out to 

deaf schoolchildren to mark International Day of the 

Disabled.  The two workshops, hosted at the Sizwile School 

for the Deaf in Dobsonville and the Ekurhuleni School for 

the Deaf, involved some 370 deaf students and guests.  Deaf 

filmmaker, Nenio Mbazima, screened his feature film, Hello 

Sweet Baby, about a deaf schoolgirl, and spoke about his film 

and the challenges he experienced in making it, including 

training deaf actors and using a mostly deaf crew.  

To encourage greater interest in career opportunities 

available, the GFC published a comprehensive career guide 

aimed at learners and educators. The ‘Guide to Getting 

Started in Film and TV’ introduces learners to career 

opportunities available, the production process, skills 

required, scholarship and bursary opportunities, a detailed 

list of Gauteng-based training and educational providers, as 
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well as support and industry organisations active in South 

Africa. Developed with inputs from industry professionals, 

the Guide has generated huge interest and has been widely 

disseminated to learners through libraries, special workshops, 

screenings as well as the 2009 Photo & Film Expo. 

The GFC continued its partnership with Women of the Sun 

(WOS), a non-profit organisation which advances and 

showcases women filmmakers in Africa, proactively facilitating 

the increased presence of women in the film and television 

industry. Through workshops and screenings in partnership 

with the WOS, the GFC supported 213 women participants.  

In order to create acting opportunities for Gauteng youth, 

the GFC entered into a partnership with SABC 3. The talent 

search involved auditions for a role in the popular local TV 

drama series Isidingo, with the winner being awarded a  

two-year contract. 

Audience development

In addition to the Film as a Career workshops and screenings, 

ISD continued its outreach screenings in under-resourced 

communities, screening, for example, local production and 

box office hit White Wedding. The GFC continued its support 

of First Wednesday Film Club, an initiative run by Atlas 

Studios, to provide a platform for exposure of independent 

filmmakers as well as a networking forum for those in the 

film and television industry, enabling critical engagement 

between filmmakers.

One of the year’s highlights was the release of District 9, 

award-winner Peter Jackson’s sci-fi movie about aliens in 

South Africa. Directed by local boy-made-good, Neill 

Blomkamp and 100% filmed in Gauteng, it went to the top 

of the US box office on its release in August 2009, and 

received 4 nominations for the Academy Awards and 7 for the 

BAFTAs. The GFC partnered with Ster-Kinekor on special 

screenings of the film, with 1,300 people attending these.

To fur ther promote local content and the value of  

co-productions, the GFC hosted two screenings of Foreign 

Demons prior to its nationwide release. The SA/Nigeria  

co-production, filmed almost entirely on location in Johannesburg, 

marked the acting debut of Yvonne Chaka Chaka and featured 

Nelson Mandela’s Praise Poet, Zolani Mkvia. 

MARKETING AND INFORMATION 

MANAGEMENT

The GFC continues to market the Province internationally 

and locally as a location, production centre and media 

exchange.  The GFC’s principal marketing role is to:

•  Develop a brand identity and marketing strategy that 

increases domestic knowledge of the region and attracts 

foreign productions; 

•  Support the growth of a local screen culture through the 

support of film festivals and promoting locally made 

content to local audiences; 

•  Ensure a brand presence for Gauteng at appropriate 

festivals and co-production markets;

• Participate in national marketing initiatives;

•  Develop mechanisms for ease of access to government-

owned locations and those owned by private business;

•  Lobby for free or low-cost government location services; 

•  Provide assistance with public filming permits and location 

identification and selection; 

• Provide guidelines on location filming in Gauteng;

•  Promote local awareness of the industry stressing the 

economic and cultural contributions of the sector;

•  Jointly develop strategies with stakeholders to build on 

identified strengths and opportunities within the Gauteng 

Province;

•  Establish platforms for regular communication between 

industry and the Film Commission and other government 

structures; and

•  To improve the quality, timelines and dissemination of 

market intelligence and research on production levels and 

location filming requirements.

Performance summary
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promote and export ‘Made in Gauteng’ content

During the year under review, a significant marketing focus 

was the preparation for the 2010 FIFA World Cup™, for 

the first time on African soil.  This involved:

•  Promoting Gauteng produced content, a key avenue being 

a catalogue of 2010 and soccer-themed titles, which was 

launched to international buyers attending MIPCOM 2009, 

a leading content market held in France in October;

•  Providing and widely disseminating a comprehensive 

Gauteng 2010 Media and Crew Guidelines booklet, to 

ensure both prospective and visiting international media 

and crew have access to the information they need for 

successful trips; and

•  Hosting international film crews from, among others 

France, UK, Spain, the Netherlands and the US and 

providing location permit support and liaison services.

The 2010 catalogue celebrating 2010 FIFIA World Cup 

South Africa™ was developed due to the dearth of 2010-

themed content, with international buyers clamouring for 

programmes that not only cover the World Cup but South 

Africa and Africa in general. In addition to 14 titles, the 

catalogue also contains international sales contacts for M-Net, 

the SABC, e-TV as well as The African Film Library, an M-Net 

initiative showcasing the best of the African film industry. 

As part of ensuring a brand presence for Gauteng at 

appropriate festivals and co-production markets, and 

facilitating production capacity and content development, 

the GFC attended MIPTV, the leading global content market 

for creating, co-producing, buying, selling, financing and 

distributing entertainment across all platforms.  

The mission consisted of the following activities:
•  Co-manning the SA Pavilion with the NFVF, SABC and  

M-Net under the South African banner.  GFC marketing 
material included showreels, fact sheets and DVDs on 
Gauteng locations, incentives, facilities and talent. In-depth 
discussions were held with producers and filmmakers who 
showed an interest in SA, including those from Canada, 
Australia, France, as well as representatives from the 
European Film Awards regarding utilising the Awards to 
promote Gauteng as a location and production centre;

•  Officially participating in MIPTV’s Meet the Film 
Commissions and Develop New Funds Session;

•  Investigating opportunities around exploiting 2010 content 
demand from international networks and broadcasters by 
meeting with potential content buyers. 

Following on from the successful outcomes at MIPTV, the 
GFC also participated in MIPCOM in October, attended by 
major content studios, leading international distributors and 
independent producers. Strategically, MIPCOM gave the GFC 
the opportunity to aggressively promote 2010-themed 
content for the last time to major European and North 
American buyers prior to the World Cup event.

The AFCI Locations Trade Show is the industry’s longest-
running trade event showcasing production locations and 
resources. The GFC exhibited together with other film 
Commissions/Offices and Provinces under the South African 
banner at the AFCI Locations Expo 2009 in Los Angeles, US 
in April 2009. Outcomes included meeting the Location 
Managers Guild of America (LMGA) around hosting a 
familiarisation tour for location managers and producers 
from the State of California. 

The 2010 catalogue celebrating 2010 FIFA World Cup South AfricaTM was 
developed due to the dearth of 2010-themed content, with international 
buyers clamouring for programmes that not only cover the World Cup but 
South Africa and Africa in general. 
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At the Cannes International Film Festival and Market in May 

2009, the GFC supported pre-sales marketing of The Bang 

Bang Club. Together with Out of Africa, the GFC hosted a 

special screening of a pre-release teaser for a select group 

of distributers and buyers.

With the support of the Embassy of France, a small 

delegation of film professionals from SA, including the GFC, 

attended a networking programme in the Indian Ocean 

island of Reunion in December 2009.  In addition to meeting 

counterparts from metropolitan France, Reunion, Madagascar 

and Mauritius, the GFC utilised the event to promote local 

SA content, with a focus on two productions, White Wedding 

and Jerusalema. 

Promoting Gauteng as a location, production  

and media exchange

In addition to the above internationally-oriented activities, 

the GFC ran an outbound mission to Cape Town, established 

132 new contacts, held one-on-one meetings with 8 Cape-

based production companies and hosted 120 leading industry 

representatives at a networking function in association with 

Film & Event Publishing in October 2009. Increasing awareness 

and visibility of the GFC brand and Location Gauteng among 

Cape-based production companies, the mission also 

established relations with the Cape Town Film Studios, Cape 

Town’s first, fully fledged sound stage complex.

Positioning and marketing Gauteng

Gauteng’s versatility and diversity of locations, its readily 

available and experienced skills base as well as attractive 

rebate has seen the Province become a shooting paradise 

for the global filmmaking community and co-productions.  

These include Hollywood blockbusters District 9 and Invictus, 

as well as Canadian/SA co-production The Bang Bang Club.  

The GFC, with its commitment to making the Province a 

film-friendly environment, has come in for praise for its willing 

and professional assistance.

International film publication Variety.com had this to say: 

“Local producers single out the Gauteng Film Commission 

(GFC) for praise. ‘They were extremely supportive and 

helpful on District 9. With the GFC and the National Film and 

Video Foundation, we really felt like we had friends in 

government,” says Michael Murphey of Kalahari Pictures, 

which co-produced District 9.”

Fostering a conducive regulatory environment 

and culture

Support for film from communities, business and property 

owners is vital for the long-term sustainability of the film 

industry in Gauteng. While the GFC lobbies for and promotes 

film friendly location policies, it also facilitates targeted 

communications aimed at raising local awareness of the 

Performance summary
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social and economic benefits of film. 

The awareness campaign leverages off and builds on  

GFC initiatives including ‘Movies for Mahala’, ‘Gauteng 

Bioscope’, ‘Made in Gauteng’ and the ‘Gauteng Film 

Partnership’ among others. 

The launch of the ‘Film Friendly Gauteng’ campaign in 

November 2009 has already gained the commitment and 

support of the industry as well as industry suppliers and 

service providers.

Improving research and sector data

The GFC continues to pursue avenues and channels that 

provide both the Commission and the industry with more 

detailed production information and research in order to 

more accurately evaluate the economic value of the sector 

and the impact of global trends on the Gauteng film industry.  

During the year under review, the GFC again gave support 

to the Commercial Producers Association of South Africa 

(CPA) 2009 survey, which is one of the key sources of 

comprehensive data on the commercial production sector 

and provides much-needed business intelligence.

Through augmenting in-house research capabilities by the 

appointment of a Research Manager, the GFC was able  

to produce a Production Report, providing much needed 

data and analysing production trends in the 2008 – 2009 

production year.  

In order to get a quantifiable indication of the nature and 

scope of both direct and indirect employment opportunities 

created in the Gauteng film and TV industry, as well as to get 

a sense of job losses as a result of the global economic and 

SABC crises, the GFC carried out an employment census in 

the last quarter of 2009. 

The GFC sees the Employment Census as a benchmark for 

similar research in the future.  Although prior to this, a number 

of studies have been undertaken to identify the size and 

scope of the film industry in South Africa, the GFC felt these 

studies did not adequately address the size and scope of 

employment creation in Gauteng.

Management of the GFC

In terms of the management of the GFC, an unqualified audit 

report was achieved for the 2009/2010 financial year, while 

compliance to internal control results in an improved opinion 

rating from the internal auditors. The long-term Sector 

Development Plan project was put on hold in order to align 

the project with strategic planning processes underway with 

the Department of Economic Development.  Organisationally 

the GFC remains stable.
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Performance summary

To significantly increase the 
number of participants 
involved in the development, 
production and distribution of 
independently made films in 
order to realise the sector’s 
full job preservation and 
creation potential 
 
 
 

To undertake a feasibility 
study in order to transform 
the sector and increase 
ownership and participation 
by black, youth and women 
filmmakers by facilitating  
and co-ordinating the 
development of a film 
incubation model/centre and 
provide related support 
programmes to PDI  
independent filmmakers

To position and promote 
Gauteng as location, 
production centre and 
media exchange, develop 
export markets for local 
content and deliver 
professional film commission 
services

Increased number of project 
based job opportunities created 
in the Gauteng film industry, 
through GFC support 3,750 
direct and indirect jobs have 
been targeted by March 2010 

 

Original target: Increased 
number of locally developed and 
produced GFC supported film 
content to 50 by March 2010

Increased number of individuals 
trained and developed through 
GFC supported projects to 150 
by March 2010 

Feasibility study completed 
 
 
 

 

Target of increased number of 
previously disadvantaged audience 
members attending screenings of 
11,000 by March 2010

50% awareness of Gauteng as 
preferred location (measured 
annually)

60% user satisfaction rate 
(measured annually)

Projects submitted to the GFC 
within the third and fourth 
quarter did not yield the same 
number of job opportunities 
envisaged by the GFC. One of the 
factors is the seasonal nature of 
the production industry which 
sees the period November to 
January being relatively dormant

The reprioritised business plan and 
budget was approved in the third 
quarter of the financial year, which is 
the relatively quiet period of the 
seasonal film production industry 

Target reached and exceeded

The commissioning of a feasibility 
study was aligned with Phase II of 
Project Gaullywood.  This project 
was placed on hold by the Board 
and Management in order to 
consult properly on the terms of 
reference.

There were no screenings during 
December and January, however it 
should be noted that an average 
audience of 879 (monthly) were 
reached in ten months 

GFC has carried out brand 
awareness activities ie advertising, 
media buying, collateral material, 
Gauteng show reel and strategic 
branding and awareness. However, 
the impact of these brand awareness 
activities was not measured and 
quantified, therefore the GFC cannot 
report/disclose 50% awareness of 
Gauteng as preferred location 
(measured annually)

GFC is currently awaiting feedback 
from stakeholders to quantify the 
satisfaction percentage rate. Since the 
compilation of the results are solely 
dependent on the resubmission of 
the questionnaire by the respondents, 
the GFC was unable to quantify the 
percentage of user satisfaction

Number of project based 
jobs (direct and indirect) 
created in the provincial  
film industry 

Number of film and 
television projects supported 
by the GFC

Number of people trained 
and developed through GFC 
supported projects 

To complete a feasibility 
study for the establishment 
of a film incubation model/
centre by March 2010 
 

 
Number of previously 
disadvantaged audience 
members attending 
screenings

% brand awareness of 
Gauteng through perception 
survey 

Increased user satisfaction 
with location filming support 
provided by GFC

Target not met, 2,381 job 
opportunities have been created 
during the financial year

Target not met, total number of 
film and television projects 
suppoprted during the year was 
28

Target met, in total 583 people 
were trained and developed 
through GFC supported projects 

Feasibility study not completed 
 
 
 
 

Target not met, a total of 8,787 
audience members attended 
screenings through GFC initiatives

Target not met due to the fact 
that the impact survey for 
measuring percentage awareness 
requires financial resources. There 
was no budget for measuring the 
impact (50%)

Customer satisfaction 
questionnaire was drafted and 
approved in November 2009. 
Questionnaires were given to 
stakeholders as and when they 
visited GFC offices 

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance
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To position and promote 
Gauteng as location, 
production centre and 
media exchange, develop 
export markets for local 
content and deliver 
professional film commission 
services

To develop and maintain 
effective business processes 
(in respect of legal services, 
human resource 
management, financial 
management and 
information and technology 
services) in order to ensure 
the effective functioning of 
the organisation

Increased number of films 
produced utilising Gauteng film 
locations to 300 by 31 March 
2010 
 

75% awareness (measured 
annually)

To develop a long-term Sector 
Development Plan by March 
2010 and to facilitate priority 
infrastructure investment 
by 2014 
 
 
 
 

Audited and approved annual 
performance report by May 2010

Audited and approved financial 
statements by May 2010

Retain compliance with 
corporate governance 
requirements at 100% by  
March 2010

Reduced percentage of 
contractual guaranteed 
advertising liabilities from  
100% to 75% of contractual 
value by March 2010

The film and television industry is 
a moving industry, with filmmakers 
tending to prefer places that are 
cost effective for them to shoot. 
Due to its moving nature, it is very 
inconsistent and unpredictable, 
making it difficult to forecast and 
predict. 

Target reached.

This project was placed 
temporarily on hold by the Board 
and Management in order to 
consult properly on the terms of 
reference as well as to align the 
project with strategic planning 
processes underway with the 
Department of Economic 
Development. 
 
Target to be reached. 
 
 
Target to be reached 

Target reached 
 
 
 

GFC is working at relationship 
building, by engaging protected 
clients through workshops and 
discussions at CNBC Africa, GFC 
is also pushing for longer periods 
of advertising with secured clients

Number of films produced 

% brand awareness of GFC, 
its programmes and values 
through perception survey

Increased number of priority 
infrastructure investment 
projects implemented by  
March 2014 
 
 
 
 
 

Ensure achievement of the 
GFC strategic plan 
 
 
 

Retain compliance with 
corporate governance 
requirements at 100% by 
March 2010

To effectively manage the 
CNBC Africa contract so 
that liabilities are minimised

Target not met, during the current 
year146 permits have been issued 
by GFC 
 
 
 

A survey carried out by an 
independent research house 
during quarter 3 and published in 
quarter 4 shows that 74,7% of  
the 434 respondents indicated 
awareness of the GFC

Sector Development Plan not 
completed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

On target 
 

On target 

100% compliance reported to 
date 
 

GFC has managed to reduce 
liability of CNBC contract by 4% 
during the third quarter of the 
financial year, however it should be 
noted that the contract was 
terminated in the last quarter of 
the financial year

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)   variance
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Performance summary

Project

Violence

Dr Phuthu and the 
family jelous 

Soweto Drift

Taka Takata

Paradise Stop

Synopsis

Bobedi (35 years old) has just been made CEO of a large 
Johannesburg mining company. After celebrating with his wife, 
Joy and friends, he and his wife are victims of a violent attack, 
and Joy is murdered. Frustrated by the pace of justice, Bobedi 
decides that revenge is his only option. When he eventually 
catches the murderer, Bobedi comes face to face with a 
terrible secret that connects them across time and history. He 
must now make a choice: continue the never-ending cycle of 
violence, or stop it right then and there. 

Dr Phuthu is a comedy about a doctor and his jealous 
neighbour. Dr Phuthu addresses the importance of safe sex as 
well as giving advice to married couples on how to maintain a 
healthy sex life. 

The dreams of Dumisane ‘Damage’ Khuzwayo, a young, naïve 
but volatile aspiring drag-racing driver, are thrown off track by 
the death of his dear only brother, Melusi ‘Mzala’ Khuzwayo in a 
mysterious car accident. Damage finds himself inextricably 
trapped in an intricate web of secret schemes plotted by the 
killers who took his brother’s life. Through his journey, he, 
Damage,develops a love for box shape BMW 325i’s which 
grows to the point where it threatens his relationship with his 
long-term girlfriend, Dineo ‘Dinny’ Moletsane, the mother of his 
eight-month old daughter, Ayanda Moletsane. 

Feature film Taka Takata is a soccer comedy about a small 
Johannesburg community’s success in achieving the unthinkable, 
narrated by a main character Rasta (Kagiso), who epitomises 
‘African Time’. The Flamingoes FC is a local team at the bottom 
of the lowest league, sponsored by a hair salon and funeral 
parlour. Rasta takes on the task of saving the team by trying to 
find Brazilian players to help bolster the flailing side. The 
objective is for the Flamingoes to beat their archrivals the Bulls 
in a final game. The story, which has many twists and turns, 
features Andile Ndoda as Rasta’s sister and Trevor Noah as a 
Brazilian soccer “star” as well as Sava, the Serbian soccer coach 
who is a brought into the mix. Finally, by overcoming a number 
of obstacles through community spirit and Ubuntu, the 
Flamingoes’ triumph.

This is a tale of two men on opposite sides of the law. Potso 
will only drive if the light is green. Ben – on the other hand – 
will go if it suits him, whether the light is red or green or blue. 
Paradise Stop is a comic thriller. It’s a funny film about two 
serious men and the clash between their private moralities 
and the greater battle between right and wrong.
.

Total
expenditure

R459,000

R80,000

R161,500

R80,000

R115,000

Producer

DV8

Music Revolution

Young Minds 
Productions

Greenway Lifestyle 
Concepts

Stepping Stone

Performance 
result

Total of 431 jobs were 
created over 43 weeks

Total of 250 jobs were 
created over 18 weeks

Total of 105 jobs were 
created over 22 weeks

Total of 228 jobs were 
created over 36 weeks

Total of 305 jobs were 
created over 32 weeks

Status

In post 
production

Completed, 
available at  
retail stores

Currently in  
post production

In edit

In post 
production

Industry support and development

Feature films
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Project

s

Foriegn Demons 

How to Steal R2m

Being V

Total

Ke mo Fumane

My Zulu Wedding

Umkhungo

Total

Synopsis

Foreign Demons, a dramatic feature film shot in Gauteng and 
Nigeria, is aimed at using a Pan-African co-production model 
that will elevate the quality of African film in content and 
production value. This motion picture marks the acting debut 
of South Africa`s Yvonne Chaka Chaka as well as Nollywood`s 
film star Justus Esiri.

Five long years…that’s how long Jack spent in prison after 
getting caught for robbery. His partner-in-crime and best friend, 
Twala, never got caught and Jack never talked. But Twala proved 
as treacherous as Jack is honorable by marrying Jack’s former 
fiancée during his prison term. Upon being released, Jack decides 
to go straight. He wants to start a construction business, but 
after being rejected for a loan he must find a new source of 
capital. An opportunity presents itself when Twala suggests they 
do a home invasion with a take worth R2 million. The complication 
is that the mark is Twala’s father, Julius. In his search for a third 
partner Jack comes across the tough but sexy Olive. When the 
robbery goes wrong, secret double crosses are revealed. Twala 
never intended to split the money with Jack and has planned to 
kill him all along. As Julius edges closer to finding out who ripped 
him off and the pressure mounts on the three accomplices, the 
tension builds towards an explosive and surprising finale. 

The main aim of Being V is to make a South African high quality 
vampire movie that showcases the best of South African crew 
and cast talent.  The film, set against the edgy world of vampires, 
is designed to be able to compete with similar productions 
worldwide.

Ke mo Fumane is a comedy of errors about a man who comes 
to the hustle and bustle of the township to look for a father he 
hasn’t seen since he was a child.  He promised his ailing mother 
in Lesotho he would find and bring his father to see her before 
she dies.  Having only the clothes he’s wearing and transport 
money, he finds himself having to turn tricks just to get by, for his 
journey is much longer and rockier than he had thought.  

After studying for 15 years abroad a woman, desperate to find 
her roots and reclaim her culture, falls in love with an American 
carpenter. Three weeks later, she decides to bring him home to 
South Africa to marry him only to find that her grandfather has 
promised her to the Zulu chief. To add to her complications, she 
has taken more than an innocent liking to the chief ’s son.  

Umkhungo is a 24 minute short film, selected as part of the 
prestigious Focus Features Africa First competition.  

Total

R150,000

R250,000

R125,000

R82,250

R80,000

R125,00

Producer

Moments 
Entertainment

DV8

Lirmaco 44 

Stretalk 
Productions

Luju Pictures 

Mannequin Pictures

Performance 
result

Total of 170 jobs were 
created over 8 weeks

Total of 400 jobs were 
created over 38 weeks

Awaiting report from 
production company

����

Total of 35 jobs were 
created over 11 weeks

Total of 52 jobs were 
created over 20 weeks

Total of 49 jobs were 
created over 20 weeks
���

Status

Completed and 
submitted to 
Durban Film 
Festival

In edit

Currently in 
production

Currently in  
post production

In post 
prodiction

Currently in 
production

Short films

Feature films (continued)
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Performance summary

Synopsis

Glowstars Productions will film the premiere and turn it into a 
TV advert as an important distribution tool for the series. The 
premiere will create awareness and ignite interest that will increase 
viewership ratings and demand for the feature film version. 

Portia Gumede, the creative producer of Sokhulu and Partners, 
attended the International Emmy Awards 2009 in New York in 
November 2009. Sokhulu and Partners was a finalist in the 
drama category of this prestigious event. 

The film is told through one of the black golf players, Jerry 
Dlepu, who for years played alongside the likes of Gary Player 
and other internationals such as Seve Ballesteros. Jerry’s story 
and his account of events and times is a compelling one that 
needs to be documented on film, to be preserved and be told 
to generations of young aspirant golfers. The film aims to 
highlight the prevalence of golf as a game being played in South 
Africa over the years. 

Judgement Day – Masters of Rhythm is based on annual youth 
event called Masters of Rhythm. The event, a Hip Hop Krump 
dance competition, is the biggest urban youth dance event in 
Gauteng and probably in South Africa. Masters of Rhythm hosts 
the 16 – 24 year old youth market to an extravaganza of dance 
and music entertainment, with youth expressing themselves 
through dance battles live on stage for an audience of over  
10 000 youth.

This documentary, produced by Kwena Mokwena Xivhumbeko 
and Frank Mohapi, captures the events of the armed struggle 
during the apartheid era.  The three part series will be rolled 
out over a period of 24 months, on completion a DVD will be 
released and kept in libraries.  

Playing the Enemy is a documentary about the 1995 Rugby 
World Cup, between the Springboks and the All Blacks, which 
took place at a time when SA was still shunned by the world 
yet hosted the World Cup. The story illustrates how this game 
brought the nation together, even though black people at the 
time loathed the sport as it was seen as a symbol of oppression. 

The film is a co-production between South African Broadcasters, 
Telefilm Canada and  Vision Canada as well as Yade French 
Connection. It is the story of five individuals who went through 
trauma and extreme dislocation during the apartheid era in a 
town called Ventersdorp.  The film also fuses these characters’ 
experiences with the build up to the World Cup. 

Total
expenditure

R90,000

R23,500

R30,000

R30,000

R300,000

R100,000

R200,000

Producer

Glowstars 
Productions

Paw Paw Film

Mzidi 
Communications

Blacksheep 
Productions

Xivumbeko 
Productions

Jicama 278 

Hambrooks 
Current Affairs

Performance 
result

Total of 84 jobs were 
created over 8 weeks 

No direct jobs were 
created with this project

��

Total of 18 jobs were 
created over 12 weeks

Total of 30 jobs were 
created over 16 weeks

Total of 22 jobs were 
created over 10 weeks

Total of 120 jobs were 
created over 35 weeks

Total of 14 jobs were 
created over 18 weeks

Status

Completed

Completed

Completed, 
currently 
working on 
marketing and 
distribution

Completed, 
currently 
working on 
marketing and 
distribution

In edit

Completed, to 
be distributed, 
can also be 
screened in 
London at the 
SA embassy

In edit 

Industry support and development

Documentaries

TV series

Project

Vuma Revolutions

Sokhulu and Partners

Total

Down Memory Club 
– The Fairway 

Judgement Day – 
Masters of Rhythm

The History of 
Courage

Playing the Enemy

We Did Overcome
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Synopsis

Producer Kwena Mokwena interviews a journalist, Frants Fanon, 
in Sierra Leone about the traumas and events of the war. The 
documentary is a modern film using dynamic digital language to 
deconstruct televisual images of violence in public spaces and 
reveals the insidiousness of violence as entertainment.  

Four part documentary series celebrating 100 years of South 
African cinema. 

Two workshops were hosted at Sizwile School for the Deaf in 
Dobsonville as well as at Ekurhuleni School for the Deaf.

Workshops and screenings done in partnership with WOS.

A partnership between GFC and SABC 3 was entered into to 
create acting opportunities for Gauteng youth. Auditions were 
held and the winner was secured an acting role in the local drama 
series, Isidingo. The auditions were held nationally but GFC`s focus 
was that the widest pool of talent is sourced within Gauteng.

Access to local and African film content is provided to under-
resourced communities.

ISD collaborated with City of Johannesburg library information 
services and Sedibeng District Municipality in coordinating high 
profile audio visual campaigns in libraries with a local filmmaker 
discussing film as a career. 

ISD collaborated with City of Tshwane library information 
services and Ekurhuleni Metropolitan in coordinating high profile 
audio visual campaigns in libraries with a local filmmaker in 
attendance to talk about career opportunities in the film industry.

A free networking and screening event where filmmakers can
discuss industry challenges and can have their films critiqued by 
conducting Q&A.

Two screenings were hosted by GFC at Moloko and Rosebank 
Crowne Plaza. These screenings, designed to market the film as 
well as create hype prior to the film’s release, also served to 
increase appreciation of local content.

Producer

Xivumbeko 
Productions

Moviworld

GFC ISD

WOS

SABC 3

GFC ISD

GFC ISD

Atlas Studios

Moments 
Entertainment

Performance 
result

Total of 18 jobs were 
created over 6 weeks 

Total of 50 jobs were 
created over 24 weeks
���

150 participants at 
Sizwile and 220 
participants at Ekurhuleni

213 women participants 
over the period of the 
partnership

Awaiting report from 
SABC3

���

Total audiences reached: 
165

Between the City of 
Johannesburg, Sedibeng, 
City of Tshwane and 
Ekurhuleni, a total of 
6,348 audience 
members was reached 

Total audiences reached: 
2,090

Total audience reached: 
184

�,���

�,���

�,��0

Status

Completed, 
currently 
working 
marketing and 
distribution

Pilot completed 

Workshops 
hosted

Workshops 
hosted

Male Talent 
Search – 
candidate is 
acting in Isidingo 
with a 2 year 
contract

Screenings 
hosted

Screenings/
workshops have 
been hosted 

Screenings/
workshops have 
been hosted

Partnership 
concluded

Screened on 24 
and 25 March 
2010

Industry support and development

Documentaries (continued)

Training and development

Audience development

Total
expenditure

R150,000

R150,000

R91,465

R100,000

R150,000

R60,000

R 90,120 

R111,000

R137,940

R55,800

Total jobs created

Total training and development and audience development

Project

Driving with Fanon

South African Cinema

Total

Training and 
development for 
the disabled

Woman of the Sun 
seminar and 
workshop

SABC 3 – Isidingo 
talent search

Total

Outreach screenings 
(White Wedding)

Film as a career 
workshop

Film as a career 
workshop

First Wednesday 
Film Club

Foreign Demons 
Screening

Total



Ellis Park, Johannesburg 
Photo: MediaClubSouthAfrica.com
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The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) requires the Directors to ensure that Gauteng Film Commission (GFC) keeps 
full and proper records of its financial affairs. The annual financial statements should fairly present the state of the affairs of 
GFC, its financial results, and its financial position at the end of the year. The annual financial statements are the responsibility 
of the Directors.

The annual financial statements of GFC have been prepared in terms of the South African Statements of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations of such statements. The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in the manner required by the South African Companies Act of 1973; The Public Finance Management Act, 1 of 1999; and the 
relevant Treasury regulations. 

These annual financial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates; and are prepared on the going concern basis. The Directors have every reason to believe that the GFC will be a 
going concern in the year ahead.

To discharge the above responsibilities, the Board of Directors set standards to ensure that sound systems of internal control are 
implemented by management.

The controls are designed to provide cost-effective assurance that assets are safeguarded, and that liabilities and working 
capital are efficiently managed. Policies, procedures, structures and approval frameworks provide direction, accountability and 
division of responsibilities.

The controls throughout GFC focus on those critical risk areas identified by operational risk management and confirmed by 
executive management. Management, Audit Committee and Internal Audit closely monitor the controls and ensure action is taken 
to correct deficiencies as they are identified.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by Management, Audit Committee and Internal 
Audit based on the results of their audit, that the material internal accounting controls are adequate to, ensure that the financial 
records may be relied upon for preparing the Annual statements, and that accountability for assets and liabilities is maintained.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, 
procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

In the opinion of the Directors based on the information available to date, the annual financial statements (including cash 
flow information) fairly present the financial position of GFC as at 31 March 2010, and the results of its operations for the 
year then ended.

The annual financial statements of GFC for the year ended 31 March 2010, set out on pages 50 to 72 were reviewed by 
the Audit Committee on 14 May 2010, detailed statement of financial performance outlined on page 74 –75 is solely for 
information purposes. 

N Kekana T Tselane
Chairperson Chief Executive Officer
31 May 2010

Statement of responsibility
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
The Board has reaffirmed the GFC commitment to sound governance practices and, in particular, to the Public Finance 
Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) as well as the principles underlying the King III Report on Corporate Governance and the 
protocol on Corporate Governance in the public sector as adopted by cabinet in 2002. In this regard, the Board is constantly 
reviewing its corporate governance structures and practices to align it with national best practice. The GFC is committed to 
conducting its affairs with integrity and holds itself responsible and accountable towards its stakeholders and clients.

CODE OF ETHICS (THE CODE)
The GFC is managed ethically and in line with the Code, which is based on the fundamental principles of fairness, transparency, 
integrity, reliability, responsibility and honesty.

The Code commits GFC’s management and staff to high standards of conduct in their dealings with its clients and stakeholders. 
No incidence of unethical conduct that required further investigation or action was reported during the year under review.

VALUES
The GFC promotes sound values and is committed to the Batho Pele principles.

THE GFC’S GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES:

ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE SHAREHOLDER
The GFC is an agency established and wholly funded by the Gauteng Department of Economic Development (DED) 
and through its Board of Directors (the Board) is accountable to DED. The MEC for Gauteng Department of Economic 
Development represents the Gauteng Province’s interest.

ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE MEC FOR GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
The MEC in his capacity as representative of the DED determines the 2009/10 financial year GFC’s mandate and holds the 
Board accountable for managing and controlling the GFC’s operations in compliance with its mandate.

A business plan and budget for GFC was submitted to the DED in March 2009, as required in terms of Section 52 of the 
Public Finance Management Act.1 of 1999 (PFMA).

The business plan sets out the strategic objectives and performance criteria and the GFC management is accountable for 
achieving these objectives within the risk parameters.

The Board reports to the DED by way of quarterly and annual reports as well as regular meetings between the CEO and 
the MEC.

The Board is responsible for :
•	 	Retaining	full	and	effective	control	over	the	GFC;	
•	 Approving	the	corporate	strategy,	business	plans	and	budgets	and	monitoring	management	closely	in	implementing	it;
•	 Ensuring	that	the	GFC	complies	with	all	relevant	laws	and	regulations	and	codes	of	best	practice;	and
•	 Ensuring	that	effective	risk	management	processes	are	in	place.

Corporate governance report
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Melrose House, Tshwane
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Corporate governance report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

The Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning the affairs of the GFC and have access to any 
information they may require in discharging their duties.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO)
The CEO is charged with the day-to-day management of the GFC’s operations and assists the Board in providing strategic 
and policy direction to the GFC.

BOARD COMMITTEES
To assist it in discharging its responsibilities, the Board has established the following committees: Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee, the Bid Committee, Adjudication Committee, and Risk Management Committee as reflected 
on the Board charter.

The terms of reference for each of these Committees were reviewed during the year under review and approved by the 
Board. The chairpersons of the subcommittees report to the Board of Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee oversees financial reporting, internal control, risk management, funding plans and strategies, compliance, 
corporate governance and policies. It is supported by the Management Committee in fulfilling its duties with regard to 
financial risk management. Its responsibilities pertaining to risk management include, but are not limited to:
•	 Reviewing	the	GFC’s	risk	management	policy	and	strategy;
•	 Assisting	the	Board	in	evaluating	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	the	risk	management	process;	and
•	 		Reviewing	 the	GFC’s	 significant	 risk	exposures	 and	making	 recommendations	 to	 the	Board	on	appropriate	mitigation	

strategies.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The committee is accountable for monitoring and overseeing the remuneration of all GFC employees; giving due regard to 
the competitiveness within the relevant market as well as the financial wellbeing of the organisation. 

BID COMMITTEE
The committee is accountable for monitoring and overseeing the implementation of the procurement policy, procedures and 
code of conduct and monitoring adherence thereto.

ADJUDICATION COMMITTEE
This committee is involved in all open tenders of the GFC, and makes recommendation to the Bid Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The committee, which consists of GFC senior managers, is responsible for managing the overall risk of the organisation, both 
financial and non-financial.
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Corporate governance report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

BOARD COMMITTEES’ COMPOSITION AND RECORD OF ATTENDANCE

Category Name of Director Appointment date Number of meetings
 Total Attended
Board Mr JP Marnitz 11 October 2002 7 7

Mr N Kekana (Chairperson) 4 June 2005 7 3
Mr T Tselane (Executive) 1 January 2006 7 5
Ms S Bulane-Hopa 1 March 2008 7 6
Ms Z Nzalo 1 September 2008 7 5

Audit Mr J van der Walt – CA (SA) (Chairperson) 24 May 2007 4 4
Committee Ms E Makau 24 May 2007 4 1

Mr JP Marnitz 1 July 2007 4 4
Mr P Mothudi – CA (SA) 24 November 2009 0 0

Bid Committee Ms Z Nzalo 1 September 2008 1 1
Mr E Maluleke 1 March 2009 1 1

Remuneration Mr F Manana 1 February 2006 1 1
Committee Mr N Kekana (Chairperson) 1 April 2008 1 0

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE “MANCO”
MANCO comprises GFC executive managers and deals with issues pertaining to the day-to-day management of the business of 
the GFC and is also accountable for formulating the GFC’s strategy and implementing it once approved by the Board.

INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT
In line with the PFMA, the Board is responsible for the management of the risks pertaining to the business of the GFC.  
The Board has delegated this authority to the CEO.

Whilst the line manager of each Division within the GFC has the primary responsibility for identifying and managing risks 
inherent to the operations of his/her Division, the Audit Committee develops and reviews risks management strategies, 
policies and procedures to ensure that they are appropriate for the GFC.

MANCO reports administratively to the CEO and submits quarterly reports to the Audit Committee, providing assurance 
on the management of significant risks or exposure. The internal audit function independently audits the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the GFC’s risk, control and governance processes and this function is outsourced.

STRATEGIC RISK
Strategic risk relates to failure of the GFC to deliver on its mandate.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The liquidity risk is managed through careful selection of financial instruments and cash flow forecasting. 
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Corporate governance report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

COMPLIANCE RISK
Compliance risk relates to negative impact originating from non-compliance with all applicable legislation and regulations.

The Risk Management Committee and the Chief Financial Officer assist management in complying with all applicable statutory 
and regulatory requirements. 

The compliance risk is managed through creating awareness of the regulatory requirements, and monitoring compliance with 
legislative requirements.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems.

This risk category is managed through a system of internal controls, which is based on approved policies and procedures for 
initiation, verification and reconciliation of transactions, and adequate segregation of incompatible duties. The operational risk 
category includes the following risk areas:
•	 Fraud;
•	 Financial	management;
•	 Legal	risk;
•	 Human	resources	risk;
•	 Information	risk	and
•	 Business	continuity.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors approved finance policies which includes anti fraud 
and corruption policy and avoidance of wasteful and fruitless expenditure. No incidents of fraud or irregular activities were 
reported during the year under review.

REPUTATION RISK
Reputation risk is the risk of damage to the GFC’s image which may impair its ability to retain and generate more business.

The GFC manages its reputational risk through its ongoing evaluation and management of the significant risk types highlighted 
above. A Communications Manager manages the Corporate Communications portfolio.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its duty to ensure that the GFC maintains adequate accounting records, 
internal controls and systems designed to provide reasonable assurance on the integrity and reliability of financial information 
and to safeguard its assets.

The effectiveness of these internal control systems is monitored through management reviews, formalised reporting and 
internal audits. The internal audit function, under the direction of the Audit Committee, is outsourced to an independent 
service provider and operates in terms of an Internal Audit Charter, which was reviewed and approved by the Audit 
Committee and endorsed by the Board of Directors during the year under review.

The internal audit function reports functionally to the Audit Committee and administratively to the CEO and its staff have full 
and unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. The internal audit function is outsourced.

The Audit Committee conducts its own review of the effectiveness of the internal audit function.

All operations, business activities and support functions are subject to internal review. The internal audit plan is based on key 
risk areas identified from risk assessment and the audits are planned and executed to provide management with independent 
assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems.
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1. AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITY
The Audit Committee reports that it has discharged all of its responsibilities set out in terms of sec 38 (1) (a) of the Public 
Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 as well as in its adopted Terms of Reference.

In the conduct of its duties, the Audit Committee has reviewed the following:
•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	control	systems;
•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit;
•	 The	risk	area	of	the	operations	to	be	covered	in	the	scope	of	internal	and	external	audits;
•	 	The	adequacy,	reliability	and	accuracy	of	financial	information	provided	to	management	and	other	users	of	such	information;
•	 Any	accounting	and	auditing	concerns	identified	as	a	result	of	internal	and	external	audits;
•	 Compliance	with	legal,	and	regulatory	provisions;	and
•	 	The	activities	of	the	internal	audit	function,	including	its	annual	audit	plan,	coordination	with	the	external	auditors	and	the	

responses of management to specific recommendations.

2. INTERNAL CONTROLS
The management of the GFC continues to strive towards sustainable improvement in its control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Audit Committee to indicate that a material breakdown in the functioning of the 
internal controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

In the opinion of the Audit Committee, the internal controls and procedures of the GFC are considered to be appropriate 
in all material respects to:
•	 Meet	the	business	objectives	of	the	GFC;
•	 Ensure	the	GFC	assets	are	adequately	safeguarded;	and
•	 Ensure	that	transactions	undertaken	are	recorded	in	the	GFC	records.

3. EVALUATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Committee has evaluated the annual financial statements of the GFC for the year ended 31 March 2010 and, based on 
the information provided to the Audit Committee, considers that they comply, in all material respects, with the requirements 
of the Companies Act, the Public Finance Management Act. 

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements and is of the 
opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.

J Van der Walt – CA (SA)    
Chairperson of the Audit Committee

Report of the Audit Committee
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors are pleased to submit their report, together with the GFC’s audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2010.

SERVICE RENDERED BY THE ENTITY
The GFC is an agency of the Gauteng Provincial Government tasked with the development and promotion of the audio-visual 
industry in Gauteng Province.

Flowing from this mandate, the GFC’s core business is to facilitate and enhance the contribution of the industry to the growth 
of the province.

CAPACITY CONSTRAINTS
During the current year under review it should be noted that GFC’s annual allocation was adjusted by the Department 
of Economic Development from R20 million to R16,4 million, following a budget adjustment process. GFC also has to 
reprioritise its projects from marketing the province to industrial support development in order to deal with the global crisis 
of the recession and continue to play a meaningful role in the audio-visual industry.

CNBC AFRICA CONTRACT TERMINATION
GFC entered into an agreement with CNBC Africa commencing from 1 June 2007, ending on 1 June 2012, guaranteeing an 
annual advertising income for the amount of R22,5 million for five years. In terms of the contract, CNBC Africa is obliged 
to collect revenue from protected clients to reduce the liability of GFC. By mutual agreement, the GFC and CNBC Africa 
terminated the CNBC Africa contract during the financial year under review as a result of the Auditor-General’s findings from 
the previous management report that the contract was in contravention of section 66(4) of the PFMA Act. CNBC Africa has 
requested a settlement amount of R10,535,880, which is payment for services rendered between August 2009 to January 
2010. The GFC is not in agreement with this condition for terminating the contract.

GENERAL REVIEW
The GFC is a section 21 company incorporated in terms of the Companies Act. The main business of the GFC is development 
and promotion of audio-visual industries in Gauteng. The business and activities of the GFC for the year are reviewed by the 
Chief Executive Officer.

REGISTRATION AS A PUBLIC ENTITY
GFC has resubmitted documents for listing as a public entity to Gauteng Treasury on 24 April 2010.  Currently, GFC operates 
a section 21 company, not for gain but is audited as a public entity.

BUSINESS RESULT SUMMARY
  2010 2009
  R R

Total revenue 29,986,424 40,930,950
Net deficit for the year (2,265,601) (3,616,662)
Total assets 10,791,427 13,472,120 
Accumulated surplus  8,171,353 10,436,954

Report of the Directors
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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DIRECTORS
The following persons served as Directors of the Company during the financial year :

Name of Director Status Appointed  Reappointment 
Mr JP Marnitz Non-Executive 11 October 2002 1 April 2008
Mr N Kekana (Chairperson) Non-Executive 4 June 2005 1 April 2008
Mr T Tselane Executive 1 January 2006 
Ms S Bulane-Hopa Non-Executive 1 March 2008 
Ms Z Nzalo Non- Executive 1 September 2008 

Non-Executive Directors do not have a service contract with the GFC, only the Executive Director (CEO) has a three year 
term fixed employment contract.

Business address  Postal address
56 Main Street  PO Box 61601
Marshalltown  Marshalltown
Johannesburg  2107

INTERNAL AUDIT
During	the	year	Gobodo	Forensic	and	Investigative	Accounting	(Pty)	Ltd	was	reappointed	as	internal	auditors,	responsible	
for the internal audit of the GFC and assisting management in improving internal control.

REGISTRATION AS A TAX EXEMPTION ORGANISATION
An application for listing GFC as a tax exemption organisation was lodged with the South African Revenue Service on 
20 October 2005. Correspondence has been received from South African Revenue Service declining the application. GFC 
was however given leave to resubmit the application clearly outlining activities that it performs in relation to its mandate 
of promoting Gauteng as a preferred film destination. The application will be resubmitted subsequent to registration of the 
GFC as a public entity.

N Kekana
Chairperson
31 May 2010

Report of the Directors (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010



Report of the Auditor-General 
For the year ended 31 March 2010

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE GAUTENG PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURE ON THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GAUTENG FILM COMMISSION FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2010

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Gauteng Film Commission, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 50 to 72.

Accounting Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner 
required by the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA). This responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of South Africa and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 
(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1570 of 2009 issued in 
Government Gazette 32758 of 27 November 2009. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Gauteng Film 
Commission for the year ended 31 March 2010, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, are 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa.

48 I GAUTENG FILM COMMISSION ANNUAL REpORT 2010
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Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Emphasis of matter
I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter :

Significant uncertainties
With reference to note 11 to the financial statements, the entity is in dispute with a service provider for services rendered 
up to the date the contract was terminated. The ultimate outcome of the matter cannot presently be determined, and no 
provision for any liability that may result has been made in the financial statements.

Additional matter
I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter :

Unaudited supplementary schedules

The supplementary information set out on pages 74 to 75 does not form part of the financial statements and is presented 
as additional information. I have not audited these schedules and accordingly I do not express an opinion thereon.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
In terms of the PAA of South Africa and General Notice 1570 of 2009, issued in Government Gazette No. 32758 of 27 
November 2009 I include below my findings on the report on predetermined objectives, compliance with the PFMA, Treasury 
Regulations, and financial management (internal control).

Findings

Predetermined objectives
No matters to report.

Compliance with laws and regulations
No matters to report.

INTERNAL CONTROL 
I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements and the report on predetermined objectives 
and compliance with the PFMA, Treasury Regulations, but not for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control. The matters reported below are limited to the deficiencies identified during the audit.

No matters to report.

Johannesburg
30 July 2010
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Statement of financial position
At year end 31 March 2010

 Notes 2010 2009
  R R
ASSETS
Non-current assets   859,180  1,112,123
Property, plant and equipment 2 735,653  982,098
Intangible assets 3  91,108 98,221
Bank guarantee 4 32,419 31,804

Current assets   9,932,247  12,359,997
Trade and other receivables 5  364,267  3,712,087
Cash and cash equivalents 6 9,567,980 8,647,910

TOTAL ASSETS  10,791,427 13,472,120
NET FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Accumulated surplus  8,171,353 10,436,954

Non-current liabilities 
Long-term	finance	lease	liability	 9	 74,055		 –

Current liabilities  2,546,019 3,035,166
Trade and other payables 7 2,541,311  2,291,256
Provisions 8 –  743,910
Current portion of long-term finance liability 9 4,708  –

TOTAL FUNDS AND LIABILITIES  10,791,427 13,472,120
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Statement of financial performance
For the year ended 31 March 2010

 Notes 2010 2009
  R R
Revenue 10 29,986,424 40,930,950
Government grant – non exchange  28,995,218 39,035,067
Interest income  978,946 1,856,955
Other income  12,260 38,928

Expenditure  (32,252,025) (44,547,612)
CNBC Africa partnership 11 (9,173,437) (22,886,482)
Employee costs  (10,461,213) (7,128,643)
Industry support and development  (4,320,050) (3,509,531)
Marketing cost  (3,780,310) (6,348,182)
Legal	and	governance	 	 (658,507)	 (805,564)
Office costs  (482,385) (436,959)
Training and development costs  (150,229) (152,517)
Other operating costs  (106,773) (865,429)
Travel – local  (133,038) (53,881)
Travel and subsistence-international    (561,262) (61,904)
Information technology  (706,757) (621,656)
Depreciation  (488,813) (376,042)
Human resources  (467,289) (465,064)
Printing and stationery  (274,342) (254,114)
Professional fees  (701,166) (581 644)

Deficit before taxation 12 (2,265,601)   (3,616,662)
Taxation 13 – –

Net deficit for the year  14 (2,265,601)   (3,616,662)

Attributable to:   
Net asset holders   (2,265,601) (3,616,662)
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 Notes 2010 2009
  R R

Accumulated surplus

Balance at 1 April 2009  10,436,954 14,028,292

Income received adjustment  – 25,324

Net deficit for the year  (2,265,601) (3,616,662)

Balance at 31 March 2010  8,171,353 10,436,954

Statement of changes in net assets
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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 Notes 2010 2009
  R R

Grants received from grantors   25,647,398  19,615,187
Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (25,439,842)     (14,324,615)

Cash generated from operations 15 207,556 5,290,572
Interest received  978,946 1,856,955
Finance cost  (30,563) –

Net cash inflow from operations  1,155,939  7,147,527

Cash outflows from investing activities  (235,869) (479,867)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (235,254) (478,070)
Investment  (615)  (1,797)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year   920,070  6,667,660
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  8,647,910 1,980,250

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 9,567,980 8,647,910

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of SA GAAP
GRAP Framework Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial 

statements
GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements IAS1: Presentation of financial statements
GRAP 2: Cash flow statements IAS 7: Cash flow statements
GRAP 3:  Accounting policies, changes in accounting 

estimates and errors
IAS 8:  Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates 

and errors
GRAP 4:  The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates IAS 21: The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates
GRAP 5: Borrowing costs IAS 23: Borrowing costs
GRAP 6:  Consolidated and separate financial statements IAS 27: Consolidated and separate financial statements
GRAP 7: Investments in associates IAS 28: Investments in associates
GRAP 8: Interests in joint ventures IAS 31: Interest in joint ventures
GRAP 9: Revenue from exchange transactions IAS 18: Revenue
GRAP 10:  Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies IAS 29: Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies
GRAP 11: Construction contracts IAS 11: Construction contracts
GRAP 12: Inventories IAS 2: Inventories
GRAP	13:	Leases IAS	17:	Leases
GRAP 14: Events after the reporting date IAS 10: Events after the reporting date
GRAP 16: Investment property IAS 40: Investment property
GRAP 17: Property, plant and equipment IAS 16: Property, plant and equipment
GRAP 19:  Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 

assets
IAS 3: Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

GRAP 100:  Non-current assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations

IFRS 5:  Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations

GRAP 101: Agriculture IAS 40: Investment property
GRAP 102: Intangible assets IAS 38: Intangible assets
Directive 1 Repeal of existing transitional provisions in, and consequential 

amendments to, standards of GRAP
Directive 2 Transitional provisions for the adoption of standards of GRAP 

by public entities
Directive 5 Determining the GRAP reporting framework
Directive 7 The application of deemed cost on the adoption of 

Standards of GRAP

Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and SA GAAP Statements do not differ or result 
in material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation of GRAP has resulted 
in the following changes in the presentation of the financial statements:

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Terminology differences:

Standard of GRAP Replaced statement of SA GAAP
Statement of financial performance Income statement
Statement of financial position Balance sheet
Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity
Net assets Equity
Surplus/deficit Profit/loss
Accumulated surplus/deficit Retained earnings
Contributions from owners Share capital
Distributions to owners Dividends

The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

The paragraph 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented as GRAP 24 has been issued, but it is not effective. 
A comparison note has been included to enhance the usefulness of the financial statements.

New standard and interpretations not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of financial statements of GFC for the year ended 31 March 2010 the following standard and 
interpretations were in issue but not effective:

GRAP 18: Segment Reporting – establishes principles for reporting financial information by segments. This standard will not 
have an impact on the financial statements of GFC.

GRAP 21: Impairment of non cash generating assets – prescribe the procedures that an entity applies to determine whether 
a non cash generating asset is impaired and to ensure that impairment losses are recognised.The standard also specifies when 
an entity would reverse an impairment loss and prescribed disclosure.

GRAP 23: Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions(Taxes and Transfers) – prescribe requirements for the financial 
reporting of revenue arising from non-exchange transactions, other than non-exchange transaction that give rise to an 
entity combination. The Standard deals with issues that need to be considered in recognising and measuring revenue from 
non-exchange transaction, including the identification from owners.

GRAP 25: Employee Benefit – prescribe the accounting and disclosure for employee benefits. The Standard requires an entity 
to recognise a liability when an employee has provided service in exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future; 
and an expense when the entity consumes the economic benefits or services potential arising from services provided by an 
employee in exchange for employees.

GRAP 103: Heritage Assets – prescribe the accounting treatment for heritage assets and related disclosures requirements.
This statement will not have an impact on the financial statements of GFC.

Use of estimates and judgment
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SA GAAP requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following 
notes.

•	Provision

1.2 GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied 
consistently throughout the period.

1.3 REVENUE
In terms of GRAP 23 revenue from non-exchange transaction, differentiate between exchange and non-exchange revenues, 
substance rather than form of the transactions should be considered. Exchange transactions is one in which an entity receives 
assets or services and gives approximately equal value. Non exchange transactions are not exchange transactions and include 
revenue from sovereign powers (direct and indirect taxes, duties and fines), grants and donations. 

1.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
In terms of GRAP 17, property, plant and equipment are recognised as assets when future economic benefits or services 
potential are probable, and cost is fair value can be measured reliably, criteria apply to all costs when incurred, including initial 
acquisition or construction costs and subsequent costs.

Property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost or at fair value (when acquired at no, or for nominal cost 
measurement on initial recognition at fair values does not constitute revaluation).

Costs include costs initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant 
and equipment, the carrying amount to be replaced part is derecognised.

The cost of each assets category include costs incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment cost 
incurred subsequently to add, replace part of, or service it.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

Cost model
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods and services or administration purposes are 
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost/valuation of each asset over its estimated useful 
life as follows:
Computer hardware 3 years
Office machinery and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years
Leasehold	improvement	 5	years
Printers 3 years

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.

Intangible assets

Computer software

Acquired computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. 

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance 
as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Financial Performance on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are systematically tested for 
impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets are amor-tised from the date they are available for use. The estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

Computer software         3 years

1.5 RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS

Provident Fund
Gauteng Film Commission operates a defined contribution umbrella fund for all its permanent employees, the assets of which 
are held in a separate trustee administered fund, which is subjected to the Pension Act, 1956 as amended. Payments are 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year to which they relate.

1.6 OPERATING LEASES
In terms of GRAP 13, operating lease is recognised as an integral part of the net consideration. The lessee recognises the 
benefit of incentives as a reduction of rental expenses over the lease term, on a straight-line basis, leasehold improvements 
are	depreciated	over	the	period	of	the	lease.	Lease	where	the	lessor	retains	the	risks	and	reward	ownership	of	the	underlying	
assets are classified as operating leases.

1.7 CURRENCY
These financials are presented in South Africa rand since that is the currency in which the Board’s transactions are denominated.

1.8 FOREIGN CURRENCIES
In terms of GRAP 4, a foreign currency transaction shall be recorded, on initial recognition in the functional currency, by 
applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency 
at the date of the transaction. The date of a transaction is the date on which the transaction first qualifies for recognition in 
accordance with the Standards of GRAP. Foreign assets and liabilities are translated into South African currency at the rate 
ruling at the financial year end.

Exchange gains and losses arising from the settlement of monetary items are included in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. The company does not use derivatives financial instruments for speculative polices.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

1.9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition.

1.10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

1.11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short term highly investment that is 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially 
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.12 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In terms of IPSAS 20, related parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party/ 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions or if the related party entity 
and another entity are subject to common control.

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is 
charged. Related party transactions exclude transactions with any other entity that is a related party solely because of its 
economic dependence on the reporting entity/ the government of which it forms part.

1.12.1 Parent
GFC has related party transactions with the Department of Economic Development which is the parent organisation 
responsible for primary funding. Grants amounting to R30, 495,218 were made to GFC by the department for 2009/10 
financial year.

Balances
There were no outstanding balances from transactions between the department and GFC at the 2009/10 Balance Sheet date.

1.12.2 National Film and Video Foundation (NFVF) and Cape Film Commission (CFC)
During the year under review the GFC partnered with the NFVF on the implementation of a number of collaborative 
projects.	These	projects	entailed	GFC	contributing	towards	the	staging	of	national	exhibitions	at	the	2009	AFCI	Locations	
Expo and the 2009 Cannes Film Festival, during the year under review the GFC partnered with the CFC on the staging of a 
national	pavilion	at	the	Cannes	Lions	Advertising	Festival.	
 2010 2009
 R  R

National Film and Video Foundation 164,000 428,794
Cape Film Commission – 150,000

  164,000 578,794

1.12.3 Irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of any 
applicable legislation, including:
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

•	 The	Public	Finance Management Act or
•	 Any	provincial	legislation	providing	for	procurement	procedures	in	that	provincial	government.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised. 

All irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which they are incurred.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure must be recovered from a responsible official (a debtor account should be raised) or the 
vote if responsibility cannot be determined. It is treated as a current asset in the statement of financial position until such 
expenditure is recovered from the responsible official or funded from the future voted funds. There was no irregular, fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure for the current financial year.

1.13 MEMBERS OF KEY MANAGEMENT AND PERSONNEL
For the remuneration to Directors refer to Directors and senior management emoluments note 13.

1.14 PROVISION
In terms of GRAP 19, provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount, a provision is a present obligation (legal/constructive) 
as a result of a past event and estimated reliably. The provision is eliminated from the statement of financial position, through 
use, expenditure for which the provision was recognised originally.

The amount recognised as a provision is the present value of the best estimates of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at balance sheet date. This estimates takes into account the associated risks and uncertainties. The increase 
in provision is due to an increase in outstanding leave days balances at year end which is recognised as expenses.

Provision are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, the provision is reversed.

1.15 Risk Management
Liquidity risk
The company‘s risk consists mainly as a result of the funds to cover future commitments. The company manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing is monitored.

Credit risk
Receivables
The receivables are exposed to a low risk and no amounts are overdue.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and deposits are held with AA rated registered banking institutions and are regarded as having significant credit risk.

Inherent risk
Receivables
The receivables are exposed to an insignificant amount of interest rate risk.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in the bank account is kept at a minimum in order to maximise interest earned on any cash.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 March 2010

    Capitalised Leasehold  
 Computer Office Office finance improve-  
 hardware furniture equipment lease ments Total
Summary R R R R R R

Carrying amount at 
beginning of the year 533,077 255,782 72,495 – 120,744 982,098
Cost at 1 April 2009  704,216 507,281 126,662  –  301,857 1,640,016
Accumulated depreciation  (171,139) (251,499) (54,167) – (181,113) (657,918)
Additions 24,205 62,994 13,569 85,000 – 185,768
Depreciation (223,579) (109,856) (27,074) (11,333) (60,371) (432,213)

Carrying amount at 
the end of the year 333,703 208,920 58,990 73,667  60,373 735,653
Gross carrying amount 728,421 570,275 140,231 85,000 301,857  1,825,784
Accumulated depreciation (394,718) (361,355) (81,241) (11,333) (241,484) (1,090,131)

31 March 2009 

    Capitalised Leasehold  
 Computer Office Office finance improve-  
 hardware furniture equipment lease ments Total
Summary R R R R R R

Carrying amount at 
beginning of the year 283,038 357,237 58,444 – 181,115 879,834
Cost at 1 April 2008 422,854 507,280 93,551 – 301,857 1,325,542
Accumulated depreciation (139,816) (150,043) (35,107) –  (120,742) (445,708)
Assets disposals (32,202) – (5,604) –  – (37,806)
Assets written off (85,606)  –  –       –  – (85,606)
Additions 397,169 – 38,716 – – 435,885
Depreciation (142,552) (101,456) (20,641) – (60,371) (325,020)

Carrying amount at 
end of the year  533,077 255,782 72,495 – 120,744  982,098
Gross carrying amount 704,216 507,281 126,662 – 301,857 1,640,016
Accumulated depreciation (171,139) (251,499) (54,167) – (181,113) (657,918)
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3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

   2010  2009 

  R R

Computer software

Summary

Carrying amount at 

beginning of the year   98,221  107,571

Cost at 1 April 2009   160,809  137,571

Accumulated depreciation   (62,588)  (29,914)

Additions   49,486  42,184

Assets disposals  –  (4,692)

Assets written off   –  (14,168)

Carrying amount at 

end of the year   91,108  98,221

Gross carrying amount   210,295  160,809

Accumulated depreciation   (119,187)  (62,588)

4. BANK GUARANTEE 

   2010  2009 

  R R

Opening balance  31,804  30,007

Interest capitalised   615  1,797

Closing balance  32,419 31,804

Bank	guarantee	 is	 in	 terms	of	 the	 lease	agreement	entered	 into	with	Venture	Building	Trust	 (Pty)	Ltd.	The	 lease	period	

expires on 31 October 2010.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

5.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – NON EXCHANGE

   2010  2009 
  R R

South African Revenue Services – Value Added Tax    283,485 3,502,305
Prepaid expenses  3,110  3,873
Sundry debtors    77,672  250,909

   364,267 3,712,087

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank balances. Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow 

statement comprise of the following balance sheet amounts:

   2010  2009 

  R R

Cash at bank  9,507,546 8,646,803

Cash on hand    3,000  1,107 

Credit card  57,434 –

   9,567,980 8,647,910

7.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

   2010  2009 

  R R

Creditors  22,239 87,640

Accruals – other  506,582  2,203,616 

Accruals – leave  512,490       – 

Phase 2 – Project Gaullywood                                          1,500,000 –

  2,541,311 2,291,256
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

8. PROVISIONS

In terms of the company’s policy, employees are entitled to accumulate a maximum of 30 days on a three year cycle. The CEO 

has issued a circular in which it explains that employees should have a balance of 10 days or less as at December 2010.

   Leave pay

   2009

   R

Balance at 1 April 2008   555,234

Raised during the year   307,041

   862,275

Settlement for provision raised prior year   (118,365)

   743,910

9. LONG TERM BEARING BORROWINGS – FINANCE LEASE

The finance lease is secured by machinery (note 2). GFC has leased a machine from Panasonic on 25 August 2009 for 

a five year period. The lease agreement provides for five annual payments of R55,200 annually payable in advance on 

25 August 2009. Interest is payable on 5,47% per annum. The agreement does not provide for contingent rental payments. 

Ownership will remain with Panasonic upon the expiration of the lease contract.

Reconciliation between the total minimum lease payments and their present value.

 Up to  1-5  More than  

 1 year  years  5 years Total

2010

Minimum lease payments  55,200 184,000  –  239,200

Finance cost  (50,492)  (109,945)  – (164,437)

Present value  4,708 74,055  –  78,763
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

10. REVENUE
Revenue arises from the following events and transactions:

  2010 2009 
  R R

Government grant – Main appropriation  16,400,000 3,550,000
                           – CNBC Africa  12,595,218 35,485,067
Interest received  978,946 1,856,955
Other income  12,260 38,928

                  29,986,424 40,930,950

11. CNBC AFRICA AGREEMENT

GFC has committed R22,5 million to CNBC Africa trading as Africa Business News for five years commencing on the launch 

date which was 1 June 2007. GFC will be obliged to pay an estimated R45 million for the remaining two years of the agreement 

provided that they don’t receive any revenue from protected clients. However it should be noted that GFC has collected total 

amount of R201,563 from protected clients during the financial year under review and the contract has since been terminated 

on the last quarter of the financial year.

  2010 2009 

  R R

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

Revenue 

Income received from protected clients     201,563 –

Expenditure 

CNBC Africa partnership  12,595,218 35,485,067

11.1 Contingent Liability

As at 31 March 2010 there has been a dispute between GFC and CNBC Africa in terms of the total amount of R10,535,880 

which was claimed to be outstanding at the time of terminating the agreement. CNBC Africa request GFC to honour the set 

amount for services rendered between August 2009 – January 2010.
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12. NET DEFICIT BEFORE TAXATION
The net deficit is stated after taking the following items into account:

 Notes 2010 2009
  R R

Income
Proceeds from insurance claim(1)   4,810 23,194

Expenditure
Depreciation  488,812 376,042
Computer hardware  223,579 142,552
Computer software  56,599 51,022
Office equipment  27,074 20,641
Furniture and fittings  109,856 101,456
Capitalised finance lease  11,333 –
Leasehold	improvements	 	 60,371	 60,371
Provident fund  1,268,310 573,714
Repairs and maintenance  4,688 3,441
Loss	on	disposal	of	assets	write	offs	 	 –	 9,110
Assets written off  – 99,774

Professional fees   744,085 588,292
Accounting  90,690 72,960

Audit fee
External auditors  355,524 232,759
Internal auditors   213,953 275,925
Legal	cost	 	 	42,919	 6,648 
Consultants  40,999 –

Note 1. This relates to proceeds from insurance claims for assets 
repaired during the financial year and assets lost during the previous financial year. 

Operating lease charges  891,628 765,890
Equipment  473,196 381,202
Property  418,432 384,688

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

12. NET DEFICIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
The net deficit is stated after taking the following items into account:

 Notes 2010 2009
  R R

Directors emoluments  1,642,141 1,469,318
– Executive Directors 12.1 1,562,141 1,317,318
– Non-Executive Directors(1) 12.2 80,000  152,000

12.1 EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

   Leave  Medical Provident 
  Salary pay Bonus aid fund Total
 Year R R R R R R

Mr T Tselane  2010  1,180,060 –  162,699 43,587 175,795 1,562,141

Total  1,180,060 –  162,699 43,587 175,795 1,562,141

Mr T Tselane  2009 1,133,382 – 145,026 38,910 – 1,317,318

Total  1,133,382 – 145,026 38,910 – 1,317,318

12.2 NON–EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

  Directors Leave  Medical Provident 
  fees pay Bonus aid fund Total
 Year R R R R R R

Mr N Kekana  2010 12,000 – – – –  12,000
Mr JP Marnitz 2010 24,000 – – – – 24,000
Ms S Bulane-Hopa 2010  24,000 – – – – 24,000
Ms Z Nzalo 2010  20,000 – – – –  20,000

Total  80,000 – – – – 80,000

Mr N Kekana  2009 12,000 – – – –  12,000
Mr JP Marnitz 2009 52,000 – – – – 52,000
Ms U Mbuli(2) 2009 4,000 – – – –  4,000
Ms S Bulane-Hopa 2009  44,000 – – – – 44,000
Ms Z Nzalo(3) 2009  40,000 – – – –  40,000

Total  152,000 – – – – 152,000
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12.3 SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

   Leave  Medical Provident 
  Salary pay Bonus aid fund Total
 Year R R R R R R

Mr T Masudubele 2010 681,098 – 65,276 18,047 111,939 876,360
Mr E Maluleke 2010 740,750  – 73,118 35,933 139,858  989,659
Mr J Stoltz  2010 664,983   – 65,276  27,579 120,695   878,533

Total  2,086,831 – 203,670 81,559  372,492  2,744,552

Mr T Masudubele(4) 2009 76,761 – 45,321 2,556 11,567 136,205
Mr E Maluleke(5) 2009 49,160  – 57,770 1,836 9,009 117,775
Ms N Motaung(6) 2009 320,723  41,497 40,875  – 47,151  450,246
Mr J Stoltz  2009 444,211  – 45,321  24,621 76,646  590,799

Total  890,855 41,497 189,287 29,013  144,373  1,295,025

(1)  A decrease in Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments is due to the fact that fewer members participated at the annual AFCI 
(Association of Film Commissions International) Cineposium.

(2) Resigned 1 August 2008.
(3) Appointed 1 September 2008.
(4) Appointed 1 February as Senior Manager: Industry Support and Development.
(5) Appointed 18 February 2009 as Chief Financial Officer.
(6) Resigned 31 December 2008.

13. TAXATION
 GFC is incorporated as a Section 21 Association not for gain which has as its main objective to facilitate and promote film 
production in Gauteng Province. GFC has applied for taxation exemption in terms of section 10(1)(Zg) of the Income Tax 
Act, GFC is still awaiting for the exemption as at 31 March 2010, and no tax has been raised.

14. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE 
Subsequent to year end the CEO has issued a circular in relation to outstanding leave days balance which explains how GFC 
will account for leave; this will decrease provision for leave at the end of the financial year.

During the current year under review, the Department of Economic Development (DED) started the process of agency 
review. The recommendation of the report, which was issued on 30 April 2010, was to retain the agency model, restructure 
the delivery model, re-align and integrate the current agencies, focus on creating sustainable employment in Gauteng, enforce 
corporate governance and reinforce agency oversight.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

15. RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

 Notes 2010 2009
  R R

Net deficit before taxation   (2,265,601)    (3,616,662)

Adjusted for items separately disclosed in the 
face of the cash flow statement  (948,383) (1,856,955)
Interest received  (978,946) (1,856,955)
Finance cost  30,563 –

Adjusted for items not involving the 
flow of cash and cash equivalents  488,812 385,152
Depreciation  488,812 376,042
Loss	on	disposal	of	assets	write	offs	 	 –	 9,110

Adjusted for changes in working capital  2,932,728   10,379,037
(Decrease)/Increase in accounts receivable  (3,347,819) 19,419,880
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable        6,280,547 (9,040,843)

Cash generated from operations  207,556 5,290,572

  2010 2009
  R R

16. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
Future minimum lease payment
Not later than one year  430,207 664,634
Later	than	one	year	but	not	later	than	five	years	 	 148,442	 782,892
Later	than	five	years	 	 –	 –

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payables for GFC’s premises which expire on 31 October 2010. This also 
includes rentals paid for office equipment, the escalation rate is 15% annually.  As at 31 May 2010 there were no any other 
commitments. Operating lease is accounted on the straight-line contingent.

17. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET
Reconciliation of budget deficit with the deficit in the statement of financial performance
Net deficit per the statement of financial performance   (2,265,601)
Adjusted for : 
Depreciation   488,812
Capital expenditure   (235,254)
Interest income                    (978,946)
Other income    (12,260)

Net deficit per approved budget   (3,003,249)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

18. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET

 2010 2010 2010
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R
REVENUE 
Government grant for the year 28,995,218 44,000,000  15,004,782
Interest income  978,946 –  978,936
Other income  12,260 –  12,260

Revenue per statement of 
financial performance 29,986,424 44,000,000      15,995,978

Total 29,986,424 44,000,000 15,995,978

EXPENDITURE   
Management of GFC (13,774,399) (11,010,353) (2,764,046)
Administrative services  (146,923) (146,600) (323)
Auxiliary services (503,752) (485,260) (18,492)
Building and office equipment (482,385) (473,882) (8,503)
Development and maintenance of IT (506,325) (526,125) (19,800)
Human resources (467,298)  (467,100) (198)
Office security and safety (200,432) (193,500) (6,932)
Printing and stationery (274,342) (270,600) (3,742)
Professional fees (701,166) (564,000) (137,166)
Employee cost (10,461,213) (7,883,286) (2,577,927)
Finance cost (30,563) – (30,563)

Legal and governance (658,507)  (641,860) (16,647)
AFCI (360,646) (352,000) (8,646)
Audit Committee fees (12,000)  (12,800) 800
Bid Committee fees (4,000) (3,800) (200)
Directors remuneration (212,000) (204,000) (8,000)
Legal	fees	 (42,919)	 (40,000)	 	(2,919)
Refreshments and meetings  (22,942)  (20,900) (2,042)
Remuneration Committee fees (4,000) (8,200) 4,200
Training and development – board – (160) 160

Industry support and development (4,320,050) (4,357,692) 37,642
Content screenings (325,935) (385,000) 59,065
Distribution support (470,914) (504,480) 33,566
Production support (2,889,551) (2,800,000) (89,551)
Training and development (633,650) (668,212) 34,562
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18. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET (continued)

 2010 2010 2010
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R

Advocacy and strategy (9,229,947) (24,050,000) 14,820,026
CNBC Africa partnership (9,173,437) (22,500,000) 13,326,563
Phase II: Sector strategy – (1,500,000) 1,500,000
Entertainment and hosting (56,537) (50,000) (6,537)

Marketing (3,780,310) (3,794,520) 14,210
Advertising media buying (668,309) (666,000) 2,303
Collateral material (424,449) (428,336) 3,887
Local	events	and	“	Made	in	GP	campaign”	 (571,717)	 (569,918)	 (1,779)
Media monitoring (3,180) (10,000) 6,820
Strategic branding and marketing (175,941) (176,155) 214
Strategy and research (11,585) (11,845) 260
Voice on hold (5,070) (6,000) 930
Hosting and maintenance of website (255,059) (291,000) 35,941
Web and ad hoc content development (310,160) (300,000) (10,160)
Inbound buyer mission and familiarisation (78,188) (54,082) (24,106)
Outbound mission to markets and festivals (1,059,253) (1,043,520) (15,733)
Location	and	permit	support	 (50,189)	 (70,000)	 19,811
Film Indaba (6,665) (6,664) (1)
Data collection, analysis and dissemination (160,545) (161,000) 455

Other cost (488,812)  – (488,812)
Depreciation (488,812) – (488,812)

Total expenditure as per statement 
of financial performance (32,252,025) (43,760,300) 11,508,275

Adjustment for items not included in 
statement of financial performance   
Capital expenditure             (235,254) (145,575) (89,679)

Total expenditure including 
capital expenditure (32,487,279) (44,000,000) 11,418,596

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

19. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET

 2009 2009 2009
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R
REVENUE 
Government grant for the year 39,035,067 51,050,000 12,014,933
Interest income  1,856,955  – 1,856,955
Other income  38,928  – 38,928

Revenue per statement of 
financial performance  40,930,950 51,050,000  10,119,050

Total 40,930,950 51,050,000 10,119,050

EXPENDITURE   
Management of GFC (10,510,350) (11,919,490) 1,409,140
Administrative services  (110,991) (164,000) 53,009
Auxiliary services (911,280) (942,600) 31,320
Building and office equipment (436,959) (532,000) 95,042
Development and maintenance of IT (446,134)  (458,240) 12,106
Human resources (465,064)  (559,792) 94,728
Office security and safety (175,522) (196,850) 21,328
Printing and stationery (254,113) (291,000) 36,887
Professional fees (581,644) (620,000) 38,356
Employee cost (7,128,643) (8,155,008) 1,026,366

Legal and governance (805,565) (1,055,600) 250,035
AFCI (571,346) (550,000) (21,346)
Audit Committee fees (28,656)  (36,000) 7,344
Bid Committee fees (4,000) (8,000) 4,000
Directors remuneration (164,000) (212,000) 48,000
Legal	fees	 (6,648)	 (150,000)	 143,352
Professional fees – advice to the Board – (30,000)  30,000
Refreshments and meetings (22,565)  (30,000) 7,435
Remuneration Committee fees (4,000) (24,000) 20,000
Training and development – board   (4,350)  (15,600)  11,250)

Industry support and development (3,509,531) (3,510,000) (469)
Audience development (740,784) (710,000) (30,784)
Content distribution support (1,035,308) (1,040,000) 4,692
Production development support (851,780) (880,000) 28,220
Training and development (881,659)  (880,000) (1,659)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

19. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET (continued)

 2009 2009 2009
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R

Advocacy and strategy (22,988,835) (27,600,000) 4,611,165
CNBC Africa partnership (22,886,482) (26,000,000) 3,113,518
Phase II: Sector strategy – (1,500,000) 1,500,000
Entertainment and hosting (102,353) (100,000) (2,353)

Marketing (6,348,180) (6,400,000) 51,820
Data collection, analysis and dissemination (99,905) (100,000) 95
GFC publication and promotional materials (731,203) (746,502) 15,299
GFC website and online directory (316,214) (350,000) 33,786
Film Indaba  (1,097,992) (1,104,608) 6,616
Inbound buyer and familiarisation trips (1,863) (21,875) 20,012
Integrated marketing plan (1,370,869) (1,350,000) (20,869)
Location	access	and	support	 (45,040)	 (50,000)	 4,960
National and local industry events (378,661) (380,000) 1,339
Outbound mission (1,975,925) (1,964,168) (11,757)
Promotion of social and economic value (173,194) (175,251) 2,057
Sector and stakeholder engagements (157,314) (157,596) 282

Other cost (385,152) – (385,152)
Loss	on	disposal	of	assets	write	offs	 (9,110)	 –	 (9,110)
Depreciation (376,042) – (375,042)

Total expenditure as per statement 
of financial performance (44,547,612) (50,385,090) 5,837,478

Adjustment for items not included in 
statement of financial performance
Capital expenditure  (478,069) (564,910) 86,841

Total expenditure including 
capital expenditure (45,025,681) (51,050,000) 6,024,319
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The Hillbrow Fire Station
Photo: Chris Kirchhoff, MediaClubSouthAfrica.com
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

  12 months 12 months 
  ended  ended
   2010 2009
  R R
REVENUE  29,986,424 40,930,950
Government grant  28,995,218 39,035,067
Interest income  978,946 1,856,955
Other income  12,260 38,928

EXPENDITURE  32,252,025 44,547,612
Audit Committee fees  12,000 28,656
Advertising media buying  668,309 –
AFCI membership and participation  360,646 571,346
Bank charges  27,474 25,602
Books, publication and subscription  – 5,424
CNBC Africa partnership  9,173,437 22,886,482
Collateral material  424,449 –
Content screening  325,935 740,784
Content distribution support  470,914 1,035,308
CEO corporate entertainment  56,537 102,353
Development and maintenance of IT  543,125 446,134
Depreciation  477,479 376,042
Directors fees  212,000 164,000
Employee costs  10,461,213 7,128,643
Film Indaba  6,665 1,097,992
Finance cost  30,563 –
GFC website and ad hoc content development  310,160 316,214
GFC hosting and maintenance of website  255,059 –
GFC promotional materials  – 731,203
Insurance  99,294 77,064
Investment promotion  – 1,370,869
Labour	relation	cost	 	 –	 17,424
Legal	fees	 	 42,919	 6,648
Local	events	and	“Made	in	GP”	 	 571,717	 –

Supplementary information
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)

  12 months 12 months 
  ended  ended
   2010 2009
  R R

EXPENDITURE (continued)
Location	enquiry	system	 	 –	 45,040
Loss	on	disposal	of	assets	write	offs	 	 –	 9,110
Media monitoring  3,180 –
Marketing research centre  – 1,863
National and local marketing events  – 378,661
Office equipment maintenance  4,688 3,441
Office rent  320,528 294,062
Other operating cost  6,998 198,531
Organisational development cost  109,031 123,701
Outbound mission and festivals  1,059,253 1,975,925
Printing and stationery  274,342 254,114
Professional fees  701,166 581,644
Production support  2,889,551 851,780
Promotion and social economic development  – 173,194
Refreshment and entertainment  503,752 905,854
Recruitment cost  202,960 171,422
Sector and stakeholder engagement  – 157,314
Staff parking  97,904 90,626
Staff development cost  136,888 119,047
Study assistance  13,341 33,470
Training and development – ISD  633,650 881,659
Training and development – board  – 4,350
Travel – local  133,038 53,881
Travel and subsistence – international  561,262 61,904
Water and electricity charge  59,265 48,831

Net deficit for the year  (2,265,601) (3,616,662)

This information is solely for information purposes and does not form part of the annual financial 
statements.

It should be noted that Gauteng Film Commission did not incur any expenditure in relation to World 
Cup tickets.

Supplementary information (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Maponya Mall, Soweto 
Photo: Chris Kirchhoff, MediaClubSouthAfrica.com
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IMAGES COURTESy OF:
• www.MediaClubSouthAfrica.com

• Gauteng Film Commission/Alan Rheeder Photography

• Gauteng Tourism Authority

• Johannesburg Tourism Company

• South African Tourism

• City of Johannesburg
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